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DECLARATION BY THE
COMPANY SECRETARY

We certify that eMedia Holdings has lodged with the Registrar of Companies, for the financial year ended  
31 March 2021, all such returns and notices as are required by a public company in terms of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008,  
as amended (Companies Act) and that such returns are true, correct and up to date.

HCI Managerial Services Proprietary Limited

HCI Managerial Services Proprietary Limited Company secretary

29 July 2021
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DIRECTORS’
REPORT
for the year ended 31 March 2021

NATURE OF BUSINESS
eMedia Holdings is a media investment holding company, incorporated in South Africa and listed on the JSE under the 
media sector.

OPERATIONS AND BUSINESS
eMedia Holdings is a media investment company with media assets housed in eMedia Investments. These investments are 
constantly reviewed and new opportunities sought to complement them.

STATE OF AFFAIRS AND PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD
The eMedia Holdings Group (the Group) has had a relatively good year given the very tough economic climate brought  
upon the world by the COVID-19 pandemic. While the Group did show a decline in profits from continuing operations of  
R138.5 million in the current financial year (the year) compared to a net restated profit of R241.6 million in the prior year,  
after adjusting for the impairment of goodwill of R2 039.9 million. The pandemic hit all revenue streams which impacted the 
Group mostly in the first part of the financial year, that is when lockdown levels were at their highest and almost all economic 
activity came to a standstill. This saw the total television advertising market declining by 15.70% or close to R1 billion. The film 
production market where certain of the Group’s subsidiaries conduct business came to a halt due to the closure of the 
country’s borders. The Group is satisfied with the level of profitability, as a worst-case scenario was predicted in the first half 
of the financial year. The Group’s performance in the second half of the financial year saw a recovery of advertising revenue to 
the extent that the Group outperformed the market, with the total market going back 15.70% and the Group showing a 
setback of only 7% through the pandemic set fiscal. In general, the Group’s media sales team performed better than the market 
throughout the year and in the last six months outperformed the prior year almost every month. For no further write-off in 
goodwill to occur shows how strong the Group ended the year despite the pandemic continuing to plague the country.

The Group ended the year with a net profit of R108 million, this is inclusive of the loss of R30.5 million relating to discontinued 
operations, which are the losses from other operations that the Group has considered non-essential and will be exiting or 
closing in the next financial year. There has been no further write-off in goodwill during the fiscal.

Earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation for the Group ended on R302.9 million compared to  
R427.7 million in the prior year, a 29% decrease year-on-year, and decline in headline earnings per share, both continuing and 
discontinuing and is acceptable on the back of a total television advertising market that has declined close to R1 billion as 
mentioned above.

The only asset of the Group is a 67.69% interest in eMedia Investments, the company that owns e.tv, eNCA and the Openview 
platform, among other businesses.

Tough trading conditions due to the pandemic continued for the free-to-air broadcasting industry with advertising revenue 
under increased pressure. The Group’s television advertising revenue is approximately 8% better than the market and this can 
be attributed to the increased prime time market share from 24.6% in March 2020 to 29.6% in March 2021, an increase of 20.33%.

Cost of sales, which mainly consists of the cost of content, in the case of e.tv, and employee costs in the case of eNCA, 
increased slightly from R1 294 million to R1 494.2 million. The increase is due to the fact that the Group showed confidence in 
starting a new prime time daily soap, Durban General which launched in October 2020. This confidence has been rewarded 
by the outstanding performance of Durban General which saw an increase in market share for the slot and for the Group as a 
whole. This increase in market share will underwrite an increase in revenue.
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Administrative and other expenses have been well maintained and showed a decrease of 16.8% year-on-year. While the Group 
continues to invest in the Openview platform which in turn continues to claw towards break even, together with all the above 
factors has contributed to the Group reporting a profit despite the huge advertising revenue losses incurred at the beginning 
of the pandemic.

As mentioned above, one of the main contributors to the profit has been the increase in market share. The e.tv share in prime 
time has increased to 20.3% from 17.4% a year ago. This was driven by the performances of all our local dailies viz. Imbewu: The 
Seed, Scandal and Rhythm City as well as the launch of Durban General at 18:30. The newly launched daily has already 
achieved a 6 AR within its first 6 months and now regularly averages 6 AR’s consistently.

There has also been improvement in the ratings of the other six channels produced by e.tv with significant growth shown by 
eExtra, eMovies Extra and the news and sports channel as mentioned. Management will be looking to launch a few more 
channels on the Openview platform in the new financial year.

Openview (inclusive of the e.tv multi-channel business) earned advertising revenue of R269.6 million, up from R194.1 million, 
and incurred content costs of R366.9 million up from R308.7 million the previous year. The increase is attributable to the 
additional Sports on the news and sports channel as well as the addition of the Afrikaans block on eExtra.. These content 
investments have increased the market share for the Group as mentioned resulting in the Group’s 24-hour market share 
being nearly 30%. Operating expenses has decreased by 7% driven by savings in the respect of there being no further 
subsidisation of the subsidy Openview set-top boxes to the consumer. Despite this reduction in subsidy, Openview set-top 
box activations continue to grow at an average of 35 000 per month. At the end of the period, a total of 2 361 443 (2020: 1 992 844) 
boxes have been activated. Subsequent to the end of the financial year, Openview launched a data dongle, Openview 
Connect, into the market which will allow Openview homes without fibre to gain access to the internet, this in our country in 
which less than 7% of the households have been connected to fibre. The new financial year will see the launch of a few more 
technical initiatives in Platco.

eNCA is not offered on all DStv bouquets yet it is the most watched 24-hour news channel in the country among LSM 8 to 10 
and was the most watched news channel among all adults as well at the end of March 2021. Through the pandemic eNCA 
has achieved its advertising revenue targets while its costs were being well maintained.

The new financial year will also see the launch of the Group’s OTT service eVOD in July 2021.

Most of the Group’s other subsidiaries were greatly impacted by the pandemic as mentioned above. This had a particular 
impact on Moonlighting, Media Film Services and Refinery Cape Town as they do a large part of their business with 
international film producers. There has however been some recovery since we have moved to the lower levels of the 
lockdown and with international travel now being open again.

The television market is facing numerous technology and viewership challenges which will require the Group to continually 
assess its strategic alternatives. Our investment in Openview provides the Group with strategic flexibility and is part of our 
plan to address the challenges of the impending digital migration transition. We continue to engage government on their 
DTT and DTH plans. With the closure of certain non-core assets during the year, the Group is now focused on its core 
businesses of broadcasting, content creation and being a platform and technology provider for broadcast services.
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Directors’ report  
continued

MATERIAL RISK AND OPPORTUNITY 
Principal risk 
landscape

Specific risks the group  
is exposed to Potential impact Risk responses

Macro-economic 
environment

•	 COVID-19 and the continued 
lockdown and restriction of 
advertising sales

•	 Weakening of the rand
•	 International geopolitics 

impact the economy

•	 Lower revenue, growth and 
profitability

•	 Increased programming and 
operating costs

•	 Revise strategic priorities
•	 Increased focus on cost 

savings
•	 Targeted marketing and 

promotions

Regulatory change
and compliance

•	 Increased complexity of 
compliance, eg POPI, CPA 
and FICA

•	 Changing B-BBEE 
requirements

•	 Adverse change in broadcast 
and/or licensing 
requirements

•	 Lower revenue, growth and 
profitability

•	 Increased programming and 
operating costs

•	 Comprehensive B-BBEE 
programme

•	 Actively participate with law 
makers through formal 
structures

Adverse tax
environment

•	 Aggressive tax authorities
•	 Limitation of assessed losses

•	 Increased cost of compliance
•	 Reduced profitability

•	 Robust compliance 
procedures

•	 Timeous lodging of appeals 
on assessments

Operational •	 Technology and social trends
•	 Increased competitivity, 

especially in lower LSM 
market

•	 Unreliable electricity supply/
loadshedding

•	 Outdated infrastructure

•	 Lower revenue, growth and 
profitability

•	 Increased programming and 
operating costs

•	 Broadcasting difficulties 
– reduced market share

•	 Market research to timeously 
spot trends

•	 Revise strategic priorities
•	 Investment in facility and 

back-up upgrades
•	 Maintain investment in local 

and international 
programming to retain 
audiences and attract 
advertising

•	 Effective monitoring of 
competition

Human resources •	 Lifestyle diseases, including 
hypertension and diabetes

•	 COVID-19
•	 Limited pool of qualified, 

trained and talented staff
•	 Changes in labour legislation

•	 Broadcasting difficulties- 
reduced market share, 
reduced profitability and 
reputational impacts

•	 Fast track and develop 
talented staff

•	 Retention of staff through 
appropriate remuneration 
structures

•	 Performance-driven culture

Cyber, IT and 
information 
management

•	 Cybersecurity, malware, 
hacking, social engineering

•	 POPI
•	 Social media risk
•	 Technology change 

management

•	 Reputational risk
•	 Lower revenue, increased 

costs and profitability
•	 Increased risk of compliance

•	 Continuous monitoring of IT 
security and infrastructure

•	 Increased IT auditing and 
assurance

Opportunities •	 Change the business strategy from a linear television channel provider to becoming a content 
provider across terrestrial, satellite and digital platforms. 
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DIVIDENDS
A dividend of 14 cents per share was declared by the Group on the 27th of May 2021.

SHARE CAPITAL
As at 31 March 2021, no changes to stated capital occurred.

DIRECTORATE
The directors of the company appear on pages 8 and 9 of the integrated annual report. There were no changes to the 
directorate during the year. The board has adopted and approved a board diversity policy. Aspects of diversity encompassed 
in the policy, include, but are not limited to, making good use of differences in skills, industry experience, age, race, gender 
and other distinctions between members of the board.

•	 Gender diversity
The board has adopted a policy on gender diversity at board level and agreed on voluntary targets. The board is currently 
represented by 13% female members, all of whom are “black people” as defined in the Broad-Based Black Economic 
Empowerment Act, 2003, as amended.

The Group remains committed to achieve their target of 25%.

•	 Race diversity
The board has adopted a policy on race diversity at board level. The voluntary target was set at a majority of members 
being “black people”. 88% of the members of the board are “black people”.

COMPANY SECRETARY
The secretary of the company for the year ended 31 March 2021 is HCI Managerial Services Proprietary Limited. The secretary 
has an arm’s-length relationship with the board. The name, business and postal address of the company secretary are set out 
on page 81.

AUDITOR
BDO South Africa Incorporated will continue in office in accordance with section 90 of the South African Companies Act, 
with Mrs KA Luck as the designated auditor.

SIGNIFICANT SHAREHOLDERS
The company’s significant ordinary shareholder is Fulela Trade and Invest 81 Proprietary Limited and significant N ordinary 
shares is Hosken Consolidated Investments Limited.

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS
The following special resolutions were passed by the company’s shareholders at the annual general meeting held on  
15 October 2020:
•	 Granting the directors, subject to the provisions of the Listings Requirements of the JSE, authority to allot and issue a 

portion of the authorised but unissued shares, as the directors in their discretion think fit;
•	 Approval of the fees payable to non-executive directors for their services as directors or as members of the board  

sub-committees in respect of the period 1 October 2020 until the date of the next annual general meeting;
•	 Granting the company and the subsidiaries of the company a general authority in terms of the Listings Requirements of 

the JSE for the acquisition by the company, or a subsidiary of the company, of ordinary issued shares issued by the 
company; and

•	 Granting the company general authorisation for financial assistance as required by section 44 and 45 of the Companies Act. 
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Directors’ report  
continued

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES
The statutory information relating to special resolutions passed by subsidiaries is available from the registered office of the 
company.

AUDITOR’S REPORT
The consolidated annual financial statements have been audited by BDO South Africa Incorporated and their unqualified 
audit report on the comprehensive annual financial statements and the summarised annual financial statements is available 
for inspection at the registered office of the company or on the company’s website.

SHAREHOLDING OF DIRECTORS
The shareholding of directors of the company and their participation in the share incentive scheme and in the issued share 
capital of the company as at 31 March 2021, are set out in the remuneration report in the integrated annual report on pages 
37 and 38.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ emoluments incurred by the company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out in the 
remuneration report in the integrated annual report on page 38 and in the notes to the annual financial statements on page 65.

ASSOCIATES, JOINT VENTURES AND SUBSIDIARIES
Details of the company’s subsidiaries are set out in the annual financial statements available on the company’s website at 
www.emediaholdings.co.za.

BORROWING POWERS
There are no limits placed on borrowing in terms of the MOI. Certain companies in the Group have entered into various loan 
agreements with providers of loan finance. These loan agreements include various covenants and undertakings by 
companies in the Group, which may restrict the Group’s borrowing powers. Details of these covenants and undertakings are 
available from the registered office of the company.

LITIGATION STATEMENT
There are no material legal or arbitration proceedings (including proceedings which are pending or threatened of which the 
directors of eMedia are aware), which may have or have had, during the 12-month period preceding the last practicable date, 
a material effect on the financial position of eMedia Holdings.

NO CHANGE STATEMENT
There has been no material change in the financial or trading position of the eMedia Holdings Group since the publication of its 
reviewed summarised consolidated annual results released on the 27th of May 2021, for the year ended 31 March 2021. 

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
The COVID-19 pandemic is a serious public health threat, with severe implications for economic activity as social distancing and 
widespread closures are implemented to slow down the spread of the virus. Following the declaration of a national state of 
disaster on 15 March 2020, the virus gives rise to economic consequences and it is clear that COVID-19 conditions in South Africa 
still existed at 31 March 2021. There were no other significant events subsequent to this reporting date that would require 
adjustment to the financial results as currently reported.
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APPROVAL OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of eMedia Holdings are responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of the financial 
statements of the company and of the Group and for other information contained in the integrated annual report.

The audited financial statements set out on pages 16 to 77 for the year ended 31 March 2021 have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and include amounts based on prudent judgements and 
estimates by management.

The directors are satisfied that the information contained in the consolidated annual financial statements fairly represents 
the results of operations for the year and the financial position of the Group at year-end. The accuracy of the other 
information included in this report was considered by the directors and they are satisfied that it accords with the 
consolidated annual financial statements.

The directors are also responsible for the Group’s system of internal financial controls. The system was developed to provide 
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance regarding the reliability of the financial statements, the safeguarding of assets, and 
to prevent and detect misrepresentation and losses.

The going concern basis has been adopted in preparing the financial statements. The directors have no reason to believe 
that the Group or any company within the Group will not be a going concern in the foreseeable future based on forecasts 
and available cash resources. These financial statements support the viability of the company and the Group. The financial 
statements have been audited by the independent auditing firm, BDO South Africa Incorporated, which was given 
unrestricted access to all financial records and related data, including minutes of all meetings of shareholders, the board and 
committees of the board. The auditor’s report on the full annual financial statements can be found on pages 11 to 15.

The directors believe that all representations made to the independent auditor during the audit were valid and appropriate.

The directors, whose names are stated below, hereby confirm that:
(a) � the consolidated annual financial statements set out on pages 16 to 77, fairly present, in all material respects, the financial 

position, financial performance and cash flows of the company in terms of IFRS;
(b) � no facts have been omitted or untrue statements made that would make the annual financial statements false or 

misleading;
(c)  � internal financial controls have been put in place to ensure that material information relating to the company and its 

consolidated subsidiaries have been provided to effectively prepare the annual financial statements of the company; and
(d) � the internal financial controls are adequate and effective and can be relied upon in compiling the annual financial 

statements, having applied the combined assurance model pursuant to principle 15 of the King Report on Corporate 
GovernanceTM for South Africa, 2016 (King IV)*. Where we are not satisfied, we have disclosed to the audit and risk 
committee and the auditors the deficiencies in design and operational effectiveness of the internal financial controls, and 
have taken the necessary remedial action. There has been no fraud that involved directors.

The annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021, which are available on the company’s website, were 
approved by the board on 29 July 2021 and are signed on its behalf by:

MKI Sherrif			   AS Lee
Chief executive officer		  Financial director

*	 Copyright and trademarks are owned by the Institute of Directors in South Africa NPC and all of its rights are reserved.
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT AND RISK 
COMMITTEE

The audit and risk committee is formally established as an independent statutory committee in terms of section 94(2) of  
the Companies Act. The committee oversees audit and risk matters for all the subsidiaries of eMedia Holdings, as permitted 
by section 94(2)(a) of the Companies Act.

The audit and risk committee’s terms of reference are formalised in a charter which is reviewed annually.

During the year under review, the audit and risk committee conducted its affairs in accordance with the charter and 
discharged its responsibilities as required by the charter, the Companies Act, the material requirements of King lV, the JSE 
Listings Requirements and the organisation’s memorandum of incorporation.

Considered the JSE’s most recent report on the proactive monitoring of financial statements, and where necessary, those of 
previous periods. The committee has taken appropriate action to respond to the findings as highlighted in the JSE’s report 
when preparing the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021.

The audit and risk committee has pleasure in submitting this report in respect of the past financial year of the Group, as 
required by section 94 of the Companies Act.

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE MEMBERS AND MEETING ATTENDANCE
The audit and risk committee consists of three independent non-executive directors, elected by the shareholders of eMedia 
Holdings.

Audit and risk committee meetings are held at least four times a year as required by the charter.

The financial director and the Group financial manager attend the meetings as permanent invitees, along with external audit 
and the outsourced internal audit. Other directors and members of management attend as required.

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE EVALUATION
As part of the annual evaluation, the performance of the audit and risk committee and its members was assessed and found 
to be satisfactory. In addition, members were assessed in terms of the independence requirements of King lV and the 
Companies Act. All members of the committee continue to meet the independence requirements.

FUNCTIONS OF THE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
The audit and risk committee fulfils an independent oversight role regarding the Group’s financial statements and the 
reporting process, including overseeing and evaluating appropriate financial reporting procedures applicable to the Group 
and all the entities within the Group together with the system of internal financial control, with accountability to both the 
board and to shareholders. The committee’s responsibilities include the statutory duties prescribed by the Companies Act, 
recommendations by King lV and additional responsibilities assigned by the board.

The committee is satisfied that, in respect of the financial period under review, it has performed all the functions required by 
law to be performed by an audit and risk committee, including as set out by section 94 of the Companies Act and in terms of 
the committee’s terms of reference and as more fully set out in the corporate governance report. In this connection the 
committee has:
•	 reviewed the interim, provisional and year-end financial statements, culminating in a recommendation to the board to 

adopt them;
•	 reviewed legal matters that could have a significant impact on the Group’s financial statements;
•	 reviewed the external audit reports on the annual financial statements;
•	 verified the independence of the external auditor as per section 92 of the Companies Act and accordingly nominates BDO 

South Africa Incorporated to continue in office as the independent auditor and noted the appointment of Mrs KA Luck as 
the designated auditor for 2021. The committee has recommended the reappointment of Mrs KA Luck as the designated 
registered auditor for the 2022 financial year;

•	 approved the audit fees and engagement terms of the external auditor; and
•	 determined the nature and extent of allowable non-audit services and approved the contract terms for the provision of 

non-audit services by the external auditor.
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The committee has satisfied itself that BDO South Africa Incorporated, the external auditor, and Mrs KA Luck, the designated 
auditor, are independent of the company and of the Group.

The audit and risk committee has reviewed sections 3, 8, 13, 15 and 22 and Schedule 8 of the JSE Listings Requirements and, 
based on the amended requirements of the JSE accreditation of auditors, effective 15 October 2017, confirms that:
i.  � the audit firm has met all the criteria stipulated in the requirements, including that the audit regulator has completed a 

firm-wide independent quality control (ISQC 1) inspection on the audit firm during its previous inspection cycle;
ii. � the auditors have provided to the audit and risk committee, the required IRBA inspection decision letters, findings report 

and proposed remedial action to address the findings, both at the audit firm and the individual auditor level; and
iii � both the audit firm and the individual auditor understand their roles and have the competence, expertise, experience and 

skills required to discharge their specific audit and financial reporting responsibilities.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
I)  IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT IN RESPECT OF GOODWILL AND MARKETING-RELATED 
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The committee reviewed the impairment tests performed by management. The value-in-use calculations and assumptions 
were considered together with the external auditor’s opinion on these calculations. The committee is satisfied that goodwill 
and marketing-related intangible assets is not impaired.

II)  ASSESSMENT OF USEFUL ECONOMIC LIVES AND IMPAIRMENT INDICATORS RELATING TO 
DISTRIBUTION RIGHTS 
The committee reviewed the assessment performed by management. The assumptions were considered together with the 
external auditor’s opinion on these calculations.

The committee is satisfied that these rights are not impaired.

III)  ASSESSMENT OF AMORTISATION PERIOD AND IMPAIRMENT INDICATORS RELATING TO 
PROGRAMMING RIGHTS 
The committee reviewed the assessment performed by management. The assumptions were considered together with the 
external auditor’s opinion on these calculations.

The committee is satisfied that these rights are not impaired.

IV)  RECOVERABILITY OF THE INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY
The committee reviewed the recoverability tests performed by management. The value-in-use calculations and assumptions 
were considered together with the external auditor’s opinion on these calculations. The committee is satisfied that the 
investment in the subsidiary is not impaired.

The audit and risk committee fulfils an oversight role regarding the Group’s financial statements and the reporting process, 
including the system of internal financial control.

PRIVATE MEETINGS
Audit and risk committee agendas provide for private meetings between the committee members and the external auditors 
which are regularly held.

EXPERTISE AND EXPERIENCE OF THE FINANCIAL DIRECTOR AND FINANCE FUNCTION
During the period under review, the committee considered the expertise and experience of the financial director, Antonio Lee 
CA(SA), and is satisfied that, in terms of section 3.84(h) of the JSE Listings Requirements, the financial director has the 
appropriate skills, expertise and experience to meet the responsibilities of the position. The committee has also, in terms of 
King IV, assessed the expertise of the finance function and the committee is satisfied that the finance team has the required 
and adequate skills to perform their duties.
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INTERNAL AUDIT
The Group has appointed GRIPP Advisory Proprietary Limited to perform the internal audit function. Where appropriate, 
subsidiaries and/or departments are assessed, with quarterly reports made available and discussed at the eMedia Holdings 
audit and risk committee meetings.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The board acknowledges that it is accountable for the process of risk management and the system of internal control of  
the Group.

The Group operates in a highly regulated environment. Where necessary, compliance officers have been appointed at each  
of the Group’s key operating subsidiaries and associated company levels for ensuring adherence to the various Acts and 
codes that govern the day-to-day operations. Each of the Group’s companies has its own board of directors responsible for 
the management, including risk management and internal control, of that company and its business.

The financial director, Antonio Lee CA(SA), oversees risk management for eMedia Holdings. Given the changing landscape of 
broadcasting and media in South Africa, eMedia Holdings realises that enterprise-wide risk management adds value to the 
robustness and sustainability of an organisation. It improves communication, enhances risk awareness as well as risk 
mitigation processes.

The Group utilises the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission’s (COSO) risk management 
methodology to assess the Group’s risk appetite versus the cost of risks. The COSO framework allows organisations to 
develop cost-effective systems of internal control to achieve important business objectives. At least four times a year, the 
audit and risk committee documents and reports risks that are apparent and arising.

Through thorough consultation with the board, the risk appetite and risk-bearing capacity for eMedia Holdings is defined.

A full risk assessment is conducted annually with quarterly updates and reports to the audit and risk committee. eMedia 
Holdings finds it imperative to ensure that risk management becomes inducted into daily activities which lead to a 
sustainable risk-aware culture.

RECOMMENDATION OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The committee has evaluated the annual financial statements of eMedia Holdings Limited and the Group for the period 
ended 31 March 2021 and based on the information provided to the committee, it recommends the adoption of the annual 
financial statements by the board.

Loganathan Govender
Chairperson: Audit and risk committee

29 July 2021

Cape Town

Report of the Audit and risk committee  
continued
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INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT
to the shareholders of eMedia Holdings Limited

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 
OPINION 
We have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of eMedia Holdings Limited (the Group and company) 
set out on pages 16 to 77, which comprise the consolidated and separate statements of financial position as at 31 March 2021, 
and the consolidated and separate statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated and separate 
statements of changes in equity and the consolidated and separate statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes 
to the consolidated and separate financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated 
and separate financial position of eMedia Holdings Limited as at 31 March 2021, and its consolidated and separate financial 
performance and consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group and company in accordance with the Independent 
Regulatory Board of Auditors’ Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) and other independence 
requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code and in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to performing 
audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent with the corresponding sections of the International Ethics Standards Board 
for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards). 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated and separate financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Consolidated Financial Statements

Impairment assessment in respect of goodwill and 
marketing-related intangible assets (notes 5 and 6 to the 
consolidated annual financial statements)

International Financial Reporting Standards require 
goodwill and marketing-related intangible assets 
with indefinite useful lives to be assessed annually for 
impairment by management. 

The impairment assessment in respect of goodwill and 
marketing-related intangible assets is considered a matter 
of most significance to our current year audit of the 
consolidated financial statements for the following reasons:
•	 The significance of the goodwill (R0.182 billion) and 

marketing-related intangible assets (R1.939 billion) 
balances as at 31 March 2021; 

•	 The significant judgements and estimates made by 
management in forecasting the future cash flows used 
in the value-in-use calculations, as well as in the discount 
and growth rates used; and

•	 The sensitivity in the value-in-use calculations to changes 
in future cash flows included in the models, as well as 
changes in the discount rates applied.

We obtained management’s value-in-use calculations and 
performed the following audit procedures: 
•	 Assessed the design and implementation of key controls 

in the impairment assessment process;
•	 Identified the key assumptions applied in the model 

and performed a sensitivity analyses on these key 
assumptions;

•	 Tested the mathematical accuracy of the model;
•	 Considered the reasonableness of the revenue and costs 

forecast against current year actual results and our 
knowledge of the business and the industry; and

•	 Making use of our internal valuations expertise, we 
independently evaluated the discount and growth rates 
used in the model and assessed the reasonableness of 
the assumptions.

We considered the adequacy of the Group’s disclosure 
against the requirements of IFRS (refer to notes 5 and 6 to the 
consolidated financial statements) about the assumptions to 
which the outcome of the impairment test is most sensitive, 
that is, those that have the most significant effect on the 
determinations of the recoverable amount of goodwill and 
marketing-related intangible assets.
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Independent auditor’s report 
continued

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Assessment of useful economic lives and impairment 
indicators relating to distribution rights (a category of 
intangible assets) (note 5 to the consolidated financial 
statements)

The assessment of the useful economic lives and 
impairment indicators relating to distribution rights is 
considered a matter of most significance to the current 
year audit of the consolidated financial statements for the 
following reasons:
•	 The significance of the carrying value of the distribution 

rights (R154 million) as at 31 March 2021; and
•	 The significant judgement involved in assessing 

whether any impairment indicators existed, and in 
the determination of the amortisation period for the 
distribution rights.

Our audit procedures included the following:
•	 Assessed the design and implementation of key 

controls in the assessment of useful economic lives and 
impairment;

•	 Compared the information included in the channel 
programming forecasts to the schedule of distribution 
rights and documentation underlying potential sales;

•	 Evaluated the sales of distribution rights against its 
licence period;

•	 On a sample basis, inspected the timing of the last sale of 
the title and assessed whether there were indications of 
impairment based on recent sales;

•	 Discussed our findings with management to evaluate 
whether carrying values exceeded estimated realisable 
values; and

•	 Assessed the reasonableness of the amortisation period 
of the distribution rights by developing an expectation of 
the amortisation expense for the period, calculating an 
acceptance range and comparing this to the recorded 
amounts to the calculated range.

We considered the adequacy of the Group’s disclosure 
regarding the distribution rights against the requirements of 
IFRS (refer to note 5 to the consolidated financial statements).

Assessment of amortisation period and impairment 
indicators relating to programming rights (note 12 to the 
consolidated financial statements)

The assessment of the amortisation period and impairment 
indicators relating to programming rights was considered 
matter of most significance to the current year audit of the 
consolidated financial statements for the following reasons:
•	 The significance of the carrying value of the programming 

rights (R1.075 billion) as at 31 March 2021; and
•	 The significant judgement involved in assessing 

whether any impairment indicators existed and in 
the determination of the amortisation period for the 
programming rights.

Our audit procedures on the schedule of distribution rights 
received from management included the following:
•	 Assessed the design and implementation of key controls 

in the impairment assessment process;
•	 Assessed the scheduling of programming rights against 

its licence period; and
•	 Assessed the reasonableness of the amortisation period 

of the programming rights by developing an expectation 
of the amortisation expense for the period, calculating an 
acceptable range and comparing the recorded amounts 
to the calculated range.

We considered the adequacy of the Group’s disclosure 
regarding programming rights against the requirements of 
IFRS (refer note 12 to the consolidated financial statements). 
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Separate Financial Statements

Recoverability of the investment in subsidiary (note 7 to the 
separate financial statements)

The company is required to consider indicators of 
impairment with respect to recoverability of the investment 
in subsidiary companies in terms of International 
Accounting Standard (IAS 36) Impairment of Assets. 

This assessment was considered a matter of most 
significance to the current year audit of the separate 
financial statements due to the significant judgements and 
estimates involved in determining the recoverable amount. 

We obtained management’s value-in-use calculations and 
performed the following audit procedures:
•	 Assessed the design and implementation of key controls 

in the impairment assessment process;
•	 Identified the key assumptions in the model and 

performed sensitivity analyses on the key assumptions;
•	 Tested the mathematical accuracy of the model;
•	 Considered the reasonableness of the revenue and costs 

forecast against current year actual results and our 
knowledge of the company and industry; and

•	 Making use of our internal valuation expertise we 
independently evaluated the discount and growth rates 
used in the model and assessed the reasonableness of 
the assumptions.

We considered the adequacy of the company’s disclosure 
of the investment in subsidiary against the requirements of 
IFRS (refer to note 7 to the separate financial statement).

OTHER INFORMATION
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
document titled “eMedia Holdings Limited Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021” and the document 
titled “eMedia Holdings Limited Integrated Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2021”, which includes the Directors’ 
Report, the Audit and Risk Committee’s Report and the Company Secretary’s Certificate as required by the Companies Act 
of South Africa. The other information does not include the consolidated and separate financial statements and our auditor’s 
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated and 
separate financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, 
based on the work we have performed on the other information, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and 
the company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group and/or the company or to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated and separate financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 
•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s and the 
company’s internal control. 

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors. 

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Group’s and the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated and separate 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group and/or 
the company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and separate financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear 
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit 
of the consolidated and separate financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, 
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Independent auditor’s report 
continued
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REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that BDO 
South Africa Incorporated has been the auditor of eMedia Holdings Limited for 7 years.

BDO South Africa Incorporated
Registered Auditors

K A Luck
Director
Registered Auditor

30 July 2021

Wanderers Office Park
52 Corlett Drive
Illovo, 2196



eMedia Holdings Annual Financial Statements 202116

STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 31 March 2021

GROUP COMPANY

2021 2020 2021 2020
Notes R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets 3 880 599 3 791 631 2 361 602 2 598 264 

Property, plant and equipment 3 1 082 198  925 390 – – 

Plant and equipment  250 435  194 272 – – 
Owner-occupied property  831 763  731 118 – – 

Right-of-use assets 4  23 980  45 625 – – 
Intangible assets 5 2 349 967 2 403 010 – – 
Goodwill 6  182 143  182 143 – – 
Interest in subsidiary companies 7 – – 2 361 602 2 361 602 
Equity-accounted investees 8  184 313  180 077 – – 
Long-term receivables 9  11 726  9 557 –  236 662 
Deferred tax assets 10  46 272  45 829 – – 

Current assets 1 573 604 1 582 054  184 981 – 

Inventories 11  5 452  2 881 – – 
Programming rights 12 1 074 631  845 355 – – 
Trade and other receivables 13  428 945  532 786 – – 
Short-term receivables 9 – –  184 981 – 
Current tax assets  1 475  9 481 – – 
Cash and cash equivalents  63 101  191 551 – – 

Assets of disposal groups 14  10 413  24 008 – – 

Total assets 5 464 616 5 397 693 2 546 583 2 598 264 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Total equity 3 743 772 3 693 110 2 537 981 2 589 662 

Stated capital 15 6 762 797 6 762 797 6 762 797 6 762 797 
Treasury shares 16 (19 861) (19 861) (19 861) (19 861)
Reserves (4 107 679) (4 125 316) (4 204 955) (4 153 274)

Equity attributable to owners of the parent 2 635 257 2 617 620 2 537 981 2 589 662 
Non-controlling interest 17 1 108 515 1 075 490 – – 

Non-current liabilities  927 203  874 806 – – 

Deferred tax liabilities 10  524 149  525 979 – – 
Borrowings 18  383 594  317 860 – – 
Lease liabilities 19  19 460  30 967 – – 

Current liabilities  785 778  827 881  8 602  8 602 

Current tax liabilities –  667 – – 
Current portion of borrowings 18  176 295  263 906  8 602  8 602 
Trade and other payables 20  604 654  563 308 – – 
Bank overdraft  4 829 – – – 

Liabilities of disposal groups 14  7 863  1 896 – – 

Total liabilities 1 720 844 1 704 583  8 602  8 602 

Total equity and liabilities 5 464 616 5 397 693 2 546 583 2 598 264 

Net asset value 2 635 257 2 617 620 – –
Net asset value per share after treasury  
shares (cents)  595  591 – –
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STATEMENTS OF PROFIT AND LOSS AND 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 31 March 2021

GROUP COMPANY

2021 2020* 2021 2020
Notes R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Continuing operations
Media and broadcasting revenue 21 2 428 959 2 491 304  –  – 
Lease income  15 064  14 288  –  – 
Cost of sales (1 494 225) (1 294 048)  –  – 

Gross profit  949 798 1 211 544  –  – 
Other income  13 961  10 817  –  – 
Administrative and other expenses (660 902) (794 673)  (2 639)  (1 714) 

Earnings before interest, taxation, 
depreciation and amortisation  302 857  427 688  (2 639)  (1 714) 
Depreciation and amortisation (123 969) (135 424)  –  – 

Operating profit/(loss) 22  178 888  292 264  (2 639)  (1 714) 
Impairment of goodwill – (2 039 905)  –  – 
Impairment of investments – –  –  (320 616) 
Finance income 23  10 603  7 776  –  – 
Finance expenses 24 (20 273) (21 954)  –  – 
Share of profit of equity-accounted investees, 
net of taxation  2 799  24 676  –  – 

Profit/(loss) before taxation  172 017 (1 737 143)  (2 639)  (322 330) 

Taxation 25 (33 565) (61 206)  –  – 

Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing 
operations  138 452 (1 798 349)  (2 639)  (322 330) 
Discontinued operations
Loss for the year from discontinued 
operations, net of taxation 26 (30 497) (16 519)  –  – 

Profit/(loss) for the year  107 955 (1 814 868)  (2 639)  (322 330) 
Other comprehensive loss, net of related 
taxation
Items that are or may be reclassified to profit 
or loss
Foreign operations – foreign currency 
translation differences (8 251) (5 013)  –  – 
Other comprehensive (loss), net of taxation (8 251) (5 013)  –  – 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for  
the period  99 704 (1 819 881)  (2 639)  (322 330) 

Profit/(loss) attributable to:
Owners of the company  72 264 (1 887 505) – –
Non-controlling interest 17  35 691  72 637 – –

  107 955 (1 814 868) – –

Total comprehensive income/(loss) 
attributable to:
Owners of the company  66 679 (1 890 898) – –
Non-controlling interest  33 025  71 017 – –

  99 704 (1 819 881) – –

Continuing operations  92 907 (1 876 324) – –
Discontinued operations (20 643) (11 181) – –

  72 264 (1 887 505) – –

Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents) 
Earnings/(loss) 27  16.31  (425.94) – –

Continuing operations 27  20.97  (423.42) – –
Discontinued operations 27  (4.66)  (2.52) – –

Headline earnings per share (cents) 
Earnings 27  16.42  33.34 – –

Continuing operations 27  21.08  35.22 – –
Discontinued operations 27  (4.66)  (1.88) – –

*	 Restated for discontinued operations, see note 26.



eMedia Holdings Annual Financial Statements 202118

STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 31 March 2021

Stated Treasury Other
Accu-

mulated
Equity 

owners of
Non- 

controlling Total
capital shares  reserves loss the parent interest equity
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

GROUP
Balance 31 March 2019 6 762 797 (14 018) (18 882) (2 135 300) 4 594 597 1 004 324 5 598 921 
Total comprehensive (loss)/income – – (3 393) (1 887 505) (1 890 898)  71 017 (1 819 881)

(Loss)/profit – – – (1 887 505) (1 887 505)  72 637 (1 814 868)

Other comprehensive loss
Foreign operations – foreign currency 
translation differences – – (3 393) – (3 393) (1 620) (5 013)

Transactions with owners of  
the company – (5 843) – (80 236) (86 079) – (86 079)

Dividends – – – (80 236) (80 236) – (80 236)
Share buy-back – (5 843) – – (5 843) – (5 843)

Changes in ownership interest – – – – –  149  149 

Disposal of share interest – – – – –  149  149 

Balance 31 March 2020 6 762 797 (19 861) (22 275) (4 103 041) 2 617 620 1 075 490 3 693 110 
Total comprehensive (loss)/income – – (5 585)  72 264  66 679  33 025  99 704 

Profit – – –  72 264  72 264  35 691  107 955 

Other comprehensive loss – – (5 585) – (5 585) (2 666) (8 251)

Foreign operations – foreign currency 
translation differences – – (5 585) – (5 585) (2 666) (8 251)

Transactions with owners of  
the company – – – (49 042) (49 042) – (49 042)

Dividends – – – (49 042) (49 042) – (49 042)

Balance 31 March 2021 6 762 797 (19 861) (27 860) (4 079 819) 2 635 257 1 108 515 3 743 772 

Note  15  16  17 

Stated
 capital

Treasury 
shares

Retained 
income

Equity 
owners 

of the
 parent 

Total 
equity

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

COMPANY
Balance 31 March 2019 6 762 797 (14 018) (3 750 708) 2 998 071 2 998 071 
Total comprehensive loss – – (322 330) (322 330) (322 330)

Loss – – (322 330) (322 330) (322 330)

Transactions with owners of the company – (5 843) (80 236) (86 079) (86 079)

Dividends – – (80 236) (80 236) (80 236)
Share buy-back – (5 843) – (5 843) (5 843)

Balance 31 March 2020 6 762 797 (19 861) (4 153 274) 2 589 662 2 589 662 
Total comprehensive loss – – (2 639) (2 639) (2 639)

Loss – – (2 639) (2 639) (2 639)

Transactions with owners of the company – – (49 042) (49 042) (49 042)

Dividends – – (49 042) (49 042) (49 042)

Balance 31 March 2021 6 762 797 (19 861) (4 204 955) 2 537 981 2 537 981 

Note  15  16 
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STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 31 March 2021

GROUP COMPANY

2021 2020 2021 2020
Notes R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Cash from operating activities
Cash flows from operating activities 28.1 242 879  341 060 (2 639) (1 714)
Finance income 23  10 603  7 776 – –
Finance costs 24 (20 273) (24 026) – – 
Taxes paid 28.2 (28 287) (30 100) – – 
Dividend paid 28.4 (49 042) (80 236) (49 042) (80 236)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating 
activities 155 880  214 474 (51 681) (81 950)

Cash from investing activities
Acquisition/Development of property, plant 
and equipment (241 585) (184 722) – – 

Development of owner-occupied properties 3 (199 312) (121 507) – – 
Acquisition of plant and equipment 3 (42 273) (63 215) – – 

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and 
equipment  224  330 – – 

Book value of assets disposed 3  86  656 – – 
Profit/(loss) on disposal 3  138 (326) – – 

Receipts from financial assets 9 – – 51 681  87 793 
Proceeds on disposal of subsidiaries 28.3 –  3 930 – – 
Additions to intangible assets 5 (1 559) (2 675) – – 
Loans advanced to equity accounting 
investees 8 (1 967) (1 556) – – 

Net cash (used in)/from investing activities (244 887) (184 693) 51 681  87 793 

Cash from financing activities
Repayment of borrowings 18 (98 513) (189 125) – – 
Borrowings raised 18  75 500  325 000 – – 
Share buy-back – – – (5 843)
Principal paid on lease liabilities 19 (20 938) (15 377) – – 

Net cash (used in)/from financing activities (43 951)  120 498 – (5 843)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (132 958)  150 279  – – 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning  
of the year  191 655  45 444 – – 
Effect of movements in exchange rates on 
cash held – (4 068) – – 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of  
the year  58 697  191 655 – – 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise  
the following
Cash and cash equivalents  63 526  191 655 – – 

Bank balances  63 101  191 551 – – 
Cash in disposal group assets held for sale 14  425  104 – – 

Bank overdrafts (4 829) – – –

  58 697  191 655 – –
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NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2021

1.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES
eMedia Holdings Limited (the company) is a company domiciled in South Africa. The consolidated financial 
statements of the company for the year ended 31 March 2021 and comparative figures for the year ended  
31 March 2020 comprise the company, its equity-accounted investees and its subsidiaries (together referred to  
as the Group). Where reference is made to the Group in the accounting policies it should be interpreted as  
referring to the company where the context requires unless otherwise noted. The company’s registered office  
is at 5 Summit Road, Dunkeld West, Johannesburg, 2196.

A.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION
The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, except for financial instruments which have been 
accounted for in terms of IFRS 9 of which certain financial instruments are accounted for on the fair value basis. The 
financial statements incorporate the principal accounting policies set out below, which are consistent with those 
applied in the previous year.

These policies comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB), Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting 
Standards Council (FRSC) and the requirements of the South African Companies Act and the JSE Listings 
Requirements.

The financial statements are presented in South African rand as it is the currency of the economic environment in 
which the Group operates.

The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis.

B.	 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements include the financial information of the subsidiaries, associated entities and 
joint venture entities owned by the Group.

I) SUBSIDIARIES
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. 

The company records its investment in subsidiaries at cost less any impairment charges. These interests include any 
inter-Group loans receivable, which represent by nature a further investment in the subsidiary.

II) INTERESTS IN EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTMENTS
The Group’s interests in equity-accounted investees comprise interest in associates. Investments in associates are 
accounted for using the equity method of accounting. 

The company accounts for interests in equity-accounted investees at cost.

The Group have exercised their judgement in determining whether their shareholding in the local invested entities 
should be accounted for as an investment in associate. The Group exercised significant influence over the financial 
and operating policy decisions of entitles classified as investments in associates in terms of IAS 28. The Group does not 
have the ability to control the financial and operating activities so as to obtain benefit from the activities and as such 
has classified their investment as an investment in associate.

C.	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Cost is usually determined 
as the amount paid by the Group, unless the asset has been acquired as part of a business combination.

Amortisation is included together with depreciation in the income statement.
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The directors’ assessment of the useful life of intangible assets is based on the nature of the asset acquired, the 
durability of the products to which the asset attaches and the expected future impact of competition on the business.

Intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination are recognised separately when they are identifiable, 
and it is probable that economic benefits will flow to the Group.

I) COMPUTER SOFTWARE
Where computer software is not an integral part of a related item of property, plant and equipment,  
the software is capitalised as an intangible asset. Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of 
the costs incurred to acquire and bring them to use. Direct costs associated with the production of identifiable and 
unique internally generated software products controlled by the Group that will probably generate future economic 
benefits are capitalised.

Direct costs include software development employment costs (including those of contractors used) and an 
appropriate portion of overheads. Capitalised computer software, licence and development costs are amortised 
over their useful economic lives that are reassessed on an annual basis. Internally generated costs associated with 
maintaining computer software programs are expensed as incurred.

II) TRADEMARKS
Trademarks are recognised initially at cost. Trademarks have finite useful lives and are carried at cost less accumulated 
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of trademarks over their 
estimated useful lives.

III) DISTRIBUTION RIGHTS
Distribution rights represent multi-territory and multi-platform programming rights that the Group is able to “on sell” 
to other content acquirers in the media industry. Distribution rights are initially recognised at cost. 

Distribution rights related to factual programming are amortised over 10 years.

Distribution rights are assessed annually for impairment indicators until they are brought into use.

IV) PROGRAMMING AVAILABLE FOR DISTRIBUTION
Programming available for distribution represents internally produced content that is available to be licensed 
to broadcasters. The useful life is estimated to be indefinite as ownership does not transfer when licensed to 
broadcasters. The amortisation method is consistent with the amount received for individual titles licensed to the 
broadcasters. Programming available for distribution are assessed annually for impairment.

Programming available for distribution related to factual programming are amortised over 10 years.

V) MARKETING-RELATED INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Marketing-related intangible assets relate to trademarks, trade names and brand names for e.tv, eNCA, Yfm and Sasani. 
The useful life for this class of assets was applied as indefinite as it extended beyond the foreseeable horizon. Marketing-
related intangible assets are assessed annually for indicators of impairment.
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1.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
C.	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS CONTINUED

VI) CUSTOMER-RELATED INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Customer-related intangible assets relate to customer contracts and the related relationships and non-contractual 
customer relationships. The useful life was estimated as 10 years.

VII) CONTRACT-BASED INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Contract-based intangible assets relate to the broadcasting rights. No amortisation is accounted for as the useful life is 
indefinite. Contract-based intangible assets are assessed annually for impairment.

D.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost net of accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. 

Assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 
reporting date.

I) DEPRECIATION
No depreciation is provided on freehold land or assets in the course of construction. In respect of all other property, 
plant and equipment, depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis at rates calculated to write off the cost or 
valuation, less the estimated residual value of each asset over its expected useful life as follows:
Owner-occupied buildings				    70% over 20 years
Owner-occupied land				    30% indefinite*
Equipment and fittings				    5 – 10 years 
Motor vehicles					     5 years

*	 30% of the cost of the property is attributed to land and is not depreciated.

II) PROFIT OR LOSS ON DISPOSAL
The profit or loss on the disposal of an asset is the difference between the disposal proceeds and the carrying amount 
of the asset.

III) CAPITALISATION OF BORROWING COSTS
General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying 
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use, are 
added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use. The 
Group considers a period of greater than 12 months to be substantial. Investment income earned on the temporary 
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing 
costs eligible for capitalisation.

When the use of a property changes from owner-occupied to investment property, the property is remeasured to 
fair value and reclassified as investment property. Property that is being constructed for future use as investment 
property is accounted for at fair value.

E.	 PROGRAMMING RIGHTS
Programming rights acquired by the Group are initially measured at cost and are amortised over the number of 
licensed broadcasting runs. The genre of features acquired from the 2020 financial year generate advertising revenue 
over more than two runs and the amortisation method for these features is 40% on the first run, 40% on the second 
run and 20% on the remaining run and this has remained the same for 2021 with the exception of programming 
rights acquired specifically for the multi-channel platform. These are amortised 20% over each run. If, at the end of 
the licence period, the number of licensed broadcasting runs has not been fully utilised, a write-off is accounted for 
through profit or loss. Programming rights are assessed on an annual basis for indicators of impairment.
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F.	 INVENTORY
Inventory relates to set-top boxes which are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value 
is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling 
expenses. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out principle and includes direct material costs together with 
appropriate allocations of labour and overheads based on normal operating capacity. These boxes are shipped to and 
assembled in South Africa.

G.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial instruments include receivables, loans receivable, cash and cash equivalents, borrowings, payables and 
derivative financial instruments. Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial 
position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual terms of the instrument.

FINANCIAL ASSETS:
Financial assets are initially measured at fair value at initial recognition plus transaction costs directly attributable to 
acquisition of the asset.

For financial assets which are subsequently measured at fair value through profit and loss, their transaction costs are 
recognised in profit and loss.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual right to receive cash flows expire or the Group substantially 
transfers the risks and rewards of ownership.

Financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, net of 
impairment losses.

Financial assets which meet both of the following criteria are measured at amortised cost:
•	 It is held within the Group’s business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash 

flows; and 
•	 The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 

principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

The Group considers a broader range of information on when assessing credit risk and measuring expected credit 
losses, including past events, current conditions and reasonable and supportable forecast that affect the expected 
collectability of the future cash flows of the instrument.

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made between:
•	 financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial recognition or that have a 

low credit risk (Stage 1); 
•	 financial assets that have deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial recognition on and whose credit 

risk is not low (Stage 2); and
•	 financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at the reporting date (Stage 3). 

For financial assets in Stage 1, 12-month expected credit losses are recognised while for financial assets in Stage 2 and 
Stage 3, life time expected credit losses are recognised.

Measurement of the expected credit losses is determined by probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the 
expected life of the financial instrument, taking into account the time value of money. Interest is accrued on the 
impairment balance in Stage 3.
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1.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
G.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

FINANCIAL ASSETS CONTINUED
Financial assets measured at amortised cost on the face of the statement of financial position comprise of the 
following:

TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES:
Trade and other receivables are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions. They are 
measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs, if any and subsequently at amortised cost.

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on trade and other receivables, excluding VAT and 
prepayments. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date.

Loss allowance for all trade receivables is determined as lifetime expected credit losses (simplified approach). This is 
the default approach for trade receivables.

Trade and other receivables are written off (i.e. derecognised) when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. 
Failure to make payments within 45 days from the invoice date and failure to engage with the Group on alternative 
payment arrangement among other are considered indicators of no reasonable expectation of recovery.

In determining the loss allowance the Group considered, inter alia, disputes with customers, untraceable and slow 
payers, long overdue accounts and customers placed under liquidation. Historical data is also assessed to identify 
indicators of possible default by customers in the Group. The Group at year-end performs an assessment on the 
expected credit loss taking into account forward-looking information by assessing the general economic condition of 
the media and advertising industry.

The Group evaluates the macro-economic information within the advertising and media industry as well as the health 
of the industry which includes the monthly advertising spend as monitored by the broadcast and research council. 
This gives the Group an overview of how much spend there is in the market currently.

LONG-TERM RECEIVABLES:
Loan receivable are recognised when the company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the loan. The 
loans are measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs, if any. They are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost. 

The amortised cost is the amount recognised on the loan initially, minus principal repayments, plus cumulative 
amortisation (interest) using the effective interest method of any difference between the initial amount and the 
maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance.

 A loan is in default when there is evidence that the borrower is in significant financial difficulty such  
that it will have insufficient funds to repay the loan on demand. This is assessed based on the number  
of factors including cash flow projections and various liquidity and solvency ratios. 

A significant increase in credit risk (SICR) assessment is performed qualitatively by reference to the borrower’s cash 
flow and liquid asset position. The risk that the borrower will default on a demand loan depends on whether the 
subsidiary has enough cash or other liquid assets to repay the loan immediately (low risk of default) or insufficient 
cash or other liquid assets to repay the loan immediately (potential risk of default). 
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At year-end the Group reviews cash forecasts of their subsidiaries to determine if they have sufficient resources to 
meet debt commitments. The Group also stress tests subsidiaries future cash forecasts for a worst-case scenario to 
assess if subsidiaries have sufficient assets to recover the loan. Based on these factors, the Group will determine if they 
will expect their subsidiaries to experience significant financial difficulty or a significant increase in credit risk.

At year-end, the Group considers whether there was a significant increase in credit risk (SICR) based on the 
accounting policy. With regards to loans repayable on demand, if there is no SICR, then it can be concluded that the 
risk of default is 0% and no expected credit loss (ECL) allowance should be recognised. If there is a SICR, then the 
Group evaluates the different recovery options and credit loss scenarios to assess the risk of default. 

Long-term receivables are written off (i.e. derecognised) when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Failure 
to make payments within agreed terms and failure to engage with the Group on alternative payment arrangement 
among other are considered indicators of no reasonable expectation of recovery.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS: 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes 
in value. These are initially recorded at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost. 

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss on the face of the statement of financial position 
comprise of the following: 

INVESTMENTS IN EQUITY INSTRUMENTS
Investments in equity instruments are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instrument. The investments are measured, at initial recognition, at fair value.

In accordance with IFRS 9, when a financial asset cannot be classified as measured at amortised cost, a debt 
instrument measured at fair value through other comprehensive income or an equity instrument measured at fair 
value through other comprehensive income, it is measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Investments in equity instruments are not subject to impairment provisions.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES: 
Financial liabilities are measured at fair value at initial recognition plus transaction costs directly attributable to the 
issuance of the financial liability in the case of financial liabilities not subsequently measured at fair value through 
profit or loss. 

For financial liabilities subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs are recognised in 
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the contractual obligation is discharged, cancelled or expired. 

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost on the face of the statement of financial position comprise of the 
following: 

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using 
the effective interest rate method. 
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1.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
G.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES CONTINUED
BANK OVERDRAFT AND BORROWING
Bank overdraft and borrowings are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, 
using the effective interest rate method.

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss on the face of the statement of financial position 
comprise of the following: 

FORWARD EXCHANGE CONTRACTS
Forward exchange contracts are initially and subsequently measured at fair value. The fair value is the estimated 
amount that the entity would receive or pay to terminate the  instrument at the reporting date, taking into account 
current interest rates and the current creditworthiness of the counterparties  
to the transaction. 

The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognised immediately in profit or loss. Any directly attributable 
transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

H.	 FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSES
Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested and changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss that are recognised in profit or loss.

Finance expenses comprise interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of the discount on provisions, dividends on 
preference shares classified as liabilities, changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
and impairment losses recognised on financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss. All borrowing costs not 
capitalised in terms of IAS 23 are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method.

I. 	 TAXATION
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent 
that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity or OCI.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised. Deferred tax 
assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related 
tax benefit will be realised. 

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent that the deferred tax 
liability arises from:
•	 the initial recognition of goodwill; or
•	 the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which: 

– is not a business combination; and 
– at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss). 

J.	 REVENUE RECOGNITION
The Group currently has several revenue streams that include the following: 
•	 Advertising revenue 
•	 Content revenue 
•	 License fees revenue
•	 Facility income
•	 Openview box sales
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To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group follows a five-step process: 
1) Identify the contract with a customer 							     
2) Identify the performance obligation 							     
3) Determine the transaction price 							     
4) Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations, and
5) Recognise revenue when/as performance obligations are satisfied.				  

Advertising revenue refers to contracts with customers where an advertising slot is provided for an agreed amount. 
The advertisement is then aired as per the agreed on slot. The service is provided at a set price with no variable 
consideration and no time value of money effects and no estimates. The performance obligation is fulfilled when 
the commercial advert is aired as per the contractual term. No significant judgements and estimates are made as 
the performance obligation is fulfilled when the commercial advert is aired as per the contractual term. Advertising 
revenue is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the agreement, net of value added 
taxation.

Content sales revenue refers to programmes sold to customers. The service is provided at a set price with no variable 
consideration and no time value of money effects and no estimates. Once the contract is signed, the content is 
delivered and revenue is earned. No significant judgements and estimates are made as the performance obligation is 
satisfied at a point in time once content is delivered. Content sales revenue is recognised in profit and loss at a point in 
time, net of value added taxation. 

Licence fees revenue for the Group refers mainly to the production of news channel which is aired 24/7 on DStv. The 
service is provided at a set price with no variable consideration and no time value of money effects and no estimates. 
The performance obligation is satisfied over time as the customer consumes the benefit of access to the news 
channel which is aired 24/7 on DStv. There are no other goods or services provided in the contract other than the 
provision of the news channel. No significant judgements and estimates are made as the performance obligation is 
satisfied over time as news channel is aired. Licence fees revenue is recognised in profit and loss on a straight-line 
basis, net of value added taxation.

Facility income refers to the offering of full technical spectrum of pre-production, production and post-production 
services, as well as broadcasting studios and solutions for live local and international broadcasts. The service is 
provided at a set price with no variable consideration, no time value of money effects and no estimates. This service 
also includes the provision of specialised equipment. All these services are provided to the customer over a period of 
time. As part of the agreement, the Group has the obligation to replace the assets provided with another asset if the 
asset does not meet the required task any longer.

The provisions stated in IFRS 16 BC112 are applicable to the Group in this instance and the contract does then not 
contain a lease and falls within the scope of IFRS 15. No significant judgements and estimates are made as the 
performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are provided to customer. Facility income is recognised in 
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the contract term of the agreement, net of value added taxation.

Openview box sales relates to the sale of set-top boxes to customers. Revenue is recognised at a point in time 
upon delivery of the goods when control has transferred from the Group to the customer. Settlement of goods are 
either made upfront or credit extended to customers who are reputable, sales are not directly made to the public. 
No significant judgements and estimates are made as the performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time. 
Openview’s manufacturing agreement dictates that any returns by consumers are to be rectified by the manufacturer 
and is of no liability to the Group. 
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1.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

K.	 LEASES
OPERATING LEASE – LESSOR
Operating lease income is recognised as income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference between the 
amounts recognised as income and the contractual amounts received are recognised as an operating lease asset. This 
asset is not discounted. 

Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging operating leases are capitalised to the carrying amount of 
the leased asset and recognised as an expense over the lease term on the same basis as the lease income.

Income for leases is disclosed under revenue in profit or loss.

THE GROUP IS THE LESSEE
The Group accounts for a contract, or a portion of a contract, as a lease when it conveys the right to use an asset for a 
period of time in exchange for consideration. Leases are those contracts that satisfy the following criteria:
•	 there is an identified asset;
•	 the Group obtains substantially all the economic benefits from use of the asset; and
•	 the Group has the right to direct use of the asset.

The Group considers whether the supplier has substantive substitution rights. If the supplier does have those rights, 
the contract is not identified as giving rise to a lease.

In determining whether the Group obtains substantially all the economic benefits from use of the asset, the Group 
considers only the economic benefits that arise from use of the asset and not those incidental to legal ownership or 
other potential benefits.

In determining whether the Group has the right to direct use of the asset, the Group considers whether it directs how 
and for what purpose the asset is used throughout the period of use. If there are no significant decisions to be made 
because they are pre-determined due to the nature of the asset, the Group considers whether it was involved in the 
design of the asset in a way that predetermines how and for what purpose the asset will be used throughout the 
period of use. If the contract or portion of a contract does not satisfy these criteria, the Group applies other applicable 
IFRSs rather than IFRS 16.

All leases are accounted for by recognising a right-of-use asset and a lease liability except for:
•	 leases of low-value assets; and
•	 leases with a term of 12 months or less.

Lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the contractual payments due to the lessor over the lease term, 
with the discount rate determined by reference to the rate inherent in the lease unless this is not readily determinable, 
in which case the Group’s incremental borrowing rate on commencement of the lease is used. Variable lease 
payments are only included in the measurement of the lease liability if they depend on an index or rate. In such cases, 
the initial measurement of the lease liability assumes the variable element will remain unchanged throughout the 
lease term. Other variable lease payments are expensed in the period to which they relate.

On initial recognition, the carrying value of the lease liability includes:
•	 amounts expected to be payable under any residual value guarantee;
•	 the exercise price of any purchase option granted in favour of the Group if it is reasonably certain to exercise that 

option;
•	 any penalties payable for terminating the lease, if the term of the lease has been estimated on the basis of a 

termination option being exercised.
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Right-of-use assets are initially measured at the amount of the lease liability, reduced for any lease incentives received, 
and increased for:
•	 lease payments made at or before commencement of the lease;
•	 initial direct costs incurred; and
•	 the amount of any provision recognised where the Group is contractually required to dismantle, remove or restore 

the leased asset.

Subsequent to initial measurement, lease liabilities increase as a result of interest charged at a constant rate on the 
balance outstanding and are reduced for lease payments made. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line 
basis over the remaining term of the lease or over the remaining economic life of the asset if, rarely, this is judged to 
be shorter than the lease term. 

When the Group revises its estimate of the term of any lease (because, for example, it reassesses the probability of a 
lessee extension or termination option being exercised), it adjusts the carrying amount of the lease liability to reflect 
the payments to make over the revised term, which are discounted at the same discount rate that applied on lease 
commencement. The carrying value of lease liabilities is similarly revised when the variable element of future lease 
payments dependent on a rate or index is revised. In both cases an equivalent adjustment is made to the carrying 
value of the right-of-use asset, with the revised carrying amount being depreciated over the remaining (revised)  
lease term.

When the Group renegotiates the contractual terms of a lease with the lessor, the accounting depends on the nature 
of the modification:
•	 If the renegotiation results in one or more additional assets being leased for an amount commensurate with the 

stand-alone price for the additional right-of-use obtained, the modification is accounted for as a separate lease in 
accordance with the above policy

•	 In all other cases where the renegotiated terms increase the scope of the lease (whether that is an extension to the 
lease term, or one or more additional assets being leased), the lease liability is remeasured using the discount rate 
applicable on the modification date, with the right-of-use asset being adjusted by the same amount

•	 If the renegotiation results in a decrease in the scope of the lease, both the carrying amount of the lease liability 
and right-of-use asset are reduced by the same proportion to reflect the partial or full termination of the lease with 
any difference recognised in profit or loss. The lease liability is then further adjusted to ensure its carrying amount 
reflects the amount of the renegotiated payments over the renegotiated term, with the modified lease payments 
discounted at the rate applicable on the modification date. The right-of-use asset is adjusted by the same amount

L.	 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
I) SHORT-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related 
service is provided. 

II) EMPLOYEE LEAVE ENTITLEMENT
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. An accrual is made for the 
estimated liability to the employees for annual leave up to the balance sheet date. This liability is included in ‘Trade and 
other payables’ in the balance sheet.
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1.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

M.	 EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share is based on earnings attributable to shareholders and is calculated on the weighted average 
number of shares in issue during the financial year. Headline earnings per share is based on profit attributable 
to shareholders, excluding any non-trading capital items and the tax effect thereon, and is calculated as above. 
Diluted earnings per share is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

N.	 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the transaction date. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into South African rand at rates of exchange 
ruling at the reporting date. Translation gains and losses, whether realised or unrealised, are taken to profit or loss.  
The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost in the functional 
currency at the beginning of the year, adjusted for effective interest rate and payments during the year, and amortised 
cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the year.

O.	 NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered 
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is 
highly probable and the asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Management 
is committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from 
the date of classification.

P.	 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Discontinued operations are subsidiaries within the Group which the Group has disposed of or is currently classified 
as held for sale. The subsidiary will only be considered to be a discontinued operation once there is a feasible plan in 
place to dispose of it. These operations will then be presented separately in the financial statements, particularly in 
the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income and the statement of cash flows.

Notes to the financial statements 
continued



31

2.	 SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

I) ESTIMATED IMPAIRMENT OF GOODWILL AND INDEFINITE LIVED INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The Group tests annually whether goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets have suffered any impairment,  
in accordance with the accounting policy. The recoverable amounts of CGUs have been determined based on  
value-in-use calculations.

These calculations require the use of estimates – see note 5 and 6 for details.

II) DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
Management has applied a probability analysis to determine future taxable income against which calculated tax 
losses will be utilised.

III) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, EXCLUDING LAND
Changes in business landscape or technical innovations may impact the useful lives and estimated residual values of 
these assets. Similar assets are grouped together, but residual values and useful lives may vary significantly between 
individual assets in a category. Management reviews assets’ residual values, useful lives and related depreciation 
charges annually at each reporting date.

IV) INTANGIBLE ASSETS
During the prior year the estimated total useful life for owned intangible assets had been revised. Management had 
revised the economic useful life for these items to 10 years as this best reflects the benefits that would be generated 
from the intangible assets. These intangibles were previously amortised based on sales. The net effect of the changes 
in the prior financial year was an increase in amortisation expense of R10.5 million. 

V) MEASUREMENT OF FAIR VALUES
A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for both financial 
and non-financial assets and liabilities.

The Group has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair values that are reviewed 
on an ongoing basis. Review includes significant unobservable inputs and valuation adjustments. If third-party 
information, such as external property valuations, is used to measure fair values, then it is assessed if the evidence 
obtained from the third parties support the conclusion that such valuations meet the requirements of IFRS, including 
the level in the fair value hierarchy in which such valuations should be classified.

Significant valuation issues are reported to the Group audit committee.

VI) PROGRAMMING RIGHTS
The useful life of programming rights is based on audience views and are amortised over 3 to 5 years. Programming 
rights are assessed on an annual basis for indicators of impairment.			 

VII) COVID-19 CONSIDERATIONS
CONSIDERATION OF POTENTIAL IMPACT
The coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic has had a significant impact in South Africa and the world, thus adversely 
affecting the lives of the Group’s customers and its employees. Management has conducted a review of all possible 
financial effects the virus could have on the measurement, presentation and disclosure provided.
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2.	 SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES CONTINUED
VII) COVID-19 CONSIDERATIONS CONTINUED
CONSIDERATION OF POTENTIAL IMPACT CONTINUED

COVID-19 consideration Assessment
Potential 
impact

Note 
reference

Non-financial asset 
impairment (Property, 
plant and equipment, 
Goodwill, Intangible 
assets)

Limited disruption to operations has resulted in non-
financial assets being recovered through use in the 
normal course of business. Future cash projections still 
support the carrying value of non-financial assets.

Medium 3, 5, 6

Financial asset 
impairment (expected 
credit losses) 

Collections of trade and other receivables as well as 
long-term receivables, have remained significantly 
within the contractual terms and no additional losses 
recorded to date and expected in the future. 

Low* 13

Recoverability of 
deferred tax assets

No material deferred tax assets raised for unutilised  
tax losses, none of which are due to the impact of 
COVID-19.

None 10

Programming rights The cancellation of certain programming rights are not 
within the Group’s control. Programming rights will be 
however recovered through the airing of content, with 
limited disruption to schedules.

None 11

Inventories Limited disruption to operations. Inventory will be 
recovered through the normal operations of the Group.

None 12

Foreign Exchange 
Contracts 

The negative impact on the exchange rate has had no 
impact on the Group’s ability to settle any FEC’s. The 
Group has positive cash flow generation that will ensure 
it remains solvent and liquid after settlement of Foreign 
Exchange Contracts .

Low* 20

Subsequent events The Group has reacted swiftly in implementing its 
business continuity plans in light of the forced 
lockdowns imposed by government. The Group’s 
content line ups were adjusted and the impact of this 
has mitigated the risk of loss of revenue at the end of 
the financial year.

Subsequent to year-end the Group continued to deliver 
uninterrupted content to viewers. Local content 
productions have recommenced under strict health 
protocols. The risks above posed by the forced lockdown 
by government has been mitigated as management 
implemented significant cost-saving strategies across 
the Group and this yielded satisfactory results 
subsequent to year-end, with the business slowly 
recuperating lost revenue as economic activity restarts. 

Low* 39

Going concern The loss of advertising revenue in some key industries 
such as fast foods, alcohol and the motor industry as well 
as the negative impact on the exchange rate has had an 
impact on the Group’s cash flows. The Group does 
however still have positive cash flow generation that will 
ensure it remains solvent and liquid in the future.

Medium 41

*	 As the potential impact is low, no specific accounting policies are required.
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3.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
GROUP

Owner- 
occupied 

properties
Equipment 

and fittings
Motor 

vehicles
at cost at cost at cost Total

Reconciliation of carrying amount R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

2021
Cost at 31 March 2021  921 226 1 171 161  32 328 2 124 715 

Opening balance 812 240 1 063 731 29 551 1 905 522 
Additions 97 585 135 343 2 777  235 705 
Borrowing costs capitalised 11 401 – –  11 401 
Impairment loss – (1 105) – (1 105)
Transfers to assets held for sale – (26 556) – (26 556)
Disposals – (252) – (252)

Accumulated depreciation and impairment at  
31 March 2021 89 463 924 742 28 312 1 042 517 

Opening balance 81 122 872 049 26 961  980 132 
Current period depreciation 8 341 74 691 1 481  84 513 
Transfers to assets held for sale – (21 660) (130) (21 790)
Disposals – (338) – (338)

Carrying value at 31 March 2021  831 763  246 419  4 016 1 082 198 

Rate of (straight-line) depreciation per year 0 – 3.5% 10 – 20% 20% –
Residual values 20% 0% 0% –

2020
Cost at 31 March 2020  812 240 1 063 731  29 551 1 905 522 

Opening balance  691 870 1 002 089  29 703 1 723 662 
Additions  114 505  63 215 –  177 720 
Borrowing costs capitalised  7 002 – –  7 002 
Impairment loss – (85) – (85)
Transfers from assets held for sale – (122) – (122)
Disposals (1 137) (1 366) (152) (2 655)

Accumulated depreciation and impairment at  
31 March 2020  81 122  872 049  26 961  980 132 

Opening balance  73 993  777 482  24 154  875 629 
Current period depreciation  8 266  93 596  1 761  103 623 
Written off (not in use) – (3) – (3)
Impairment loss –  1 210  1 066  2 276 
Transfers from assets held for sale – (119) – (119)
Disposals (1 137) (117) (20) (1 274)

Carrying value at 31 March 2020 731 118 191 682 2 590 925 390

TRANSFER TO DISPOSAL GROUP AS HELD FOR SALE
During the year ended 31 March 2021, a decision was made to close Silverline Studios Proprietary Limited. Refer to 
note 14 for the results of the property, plant and equipment which were reclassified to assets and liabilities of disposal 
groups held for sale in the statement of financial position. 

During the prior year, a decision was made to close Crystal Brook Distribution Proprietary Limited. Refer to note 14 for 
the results of the property, plant and equipment which were reclassified to assets and liabilities of disposal groups 
held for sale in the statement of financial position.
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3.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT CONTINUED
SECURITY
A Standard Bank mortgage bond of R279 million (2020: R236.5 million) has been registered over owner-occupied 
properties with a carrying value of R831.8 million (2020: R731.1 million). See note 18 for details on bank borrowings 
secured.

DEPRECIATION CHARGE
Depreciation expense of R84.5 million (2020: R92 million) has been charged to “depreciation and amortisation” 
category and R11.4 million (2020: R12.5 million) has been charged to the “discontinued operations” category.

During the year, the Group wrote off various assets with a cost of R1.1 million (2020: Rnil) that were fully depreciated 
and no longer in use.

A register of land and buildings is available for inspection at the registered office of the company.

4.	 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
NATURE OF LEASING ACTIVITIES
The Group leases a number of properties in the jurisdictions from which it operates. The lease contracts provide for 
fixed lease payments over the lease term.

The table below reflects the current proportion of fixed lease payments:

Number 
of lease

 contracts

Fixed lease 
payments

 R 

2021
Leases of Land and buildings  8  10 417 

 8  10 417 

2020
Leases of Land and buildings  11  18 387 

 11  18 387 

Land and buildings

2021 2020
R’000 R’000

Reconciliation of carrying value: Right-of-use assets
Carrying value as at 1 April  45 625  43 820 
Depreciation  (9 449)  (13 829)
Additions –  15 634 
Transfer to assets held for sale  (12 196) –

Carrying value as at 31 March  23 980  45 625 

Refer to note 19 for information on the lease liabilities related to these right-of-use assets.
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5.	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
GROUP

Marketing- 
related

 intangible 
assets

Customer- 
related

 intangible
 assets

Contract- 
based 

intangible
 assets

Distribution 
rights

Programming
 under 

development
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

2021
Cost at 31 March 2021 1 938 758  436 510  128 197  338 996 – 

Opening balance 1 938 758  436 510  128 197  349 421  2 484 
Transfers – – – (9 755) (2 484)
Disposals – – – (670) – 

Impairment loss – – – – – 
Accumulated amortisation and 
impairment at 31 March 2021 –  360 889 –  185 270 – 

Opening balance –  330 882 –  177 588 – 
Current period amortisation –  30 007 –  7 682 – 

Carrying value at 31 March 2021 1 938 758  75 621  128 197  153 726 – 

2020
Cost at 31 March 2020 1 938 758  436 510  128 197  349 421  2 484 

Opening balance 1 938 758  436 510  128 197  355 017 – 
Assets acquired separately – – – –  2 484 
Transfers – – – (5 596) – 

Accumulated amortisation and 
impairment at 31 March 2020 –  330 882 –  177 588 – 

Opening balance –  300 875 –  167 970 – 
Current period amortisation –  30 007 –  12 822 – 
Transfers – – – (3 204) – 

Carrying value at 31 March 2020 1 938 758  105 628  128 197  171 833  2 484 

Nature of useful lives Indefinite Finite Indefinite Finite n/a*
Amortisation method n/a Straight line n/a Straight line n/a
Rate of amortisation per year n/a 10% – 37% n/a 10% n/a
Residual value n/a 0% n/a 0% n/a

*	 A finite useful life is only assigned once the programming is completed and transferred to distribution rights.
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5.	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS CONTINUED

GROUP

Programming
 completed

Website 
domain Trademarks Total

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

2021
Cost at 31 March 2021  77 636  1 559  556 2 922 212 

Opening balance  75 341  97  556 2 931 364 
Assets acquired separately –  1 559 –  1 559 
Transfers  2 484 – – (9 755)
Disposals (189) – – (859)
Impairment loss – (97) – (97)

Accumulated amortisation and impairment  
at 31 March 2021  25 530 –  556  572 245 

Opening balance  19 328 –  556  528 354 
Current period amortisation  6 202 – –  43 891 

Carrying value at 31 March 2021  52 106  1 559 – 2 349 967 

2020
Cost at 31 March 2020  75 341  97  556 2 931 364 

Opening balance  75 150  97  556 2 934 285 
Assets acquired separately  191 – –  2 675 
Transfers – – – (5 596)

Accumulated amortisation and impairment  
at 31 March 2020  19 328 –  556  528 354 

Opening balance  13 125 –  556  482 526 
Current period amortisation  6 203 – –  49 032 
Transfers – – – (3 204)

Carrying value at 31 March 2020  56 013  97 – 2 403 010 

Nature of useful lives Finite Indefinite Finite
Amortisation method Revenue-based n/a Straight line
Rate of amortisation Period of 

economic life n/a 10%
Residual values 0% n/a 0%

IMPAIRMENT
Marketing, customer and contract related intangible assets which forms part of the eMedia Investments Proprietary 
Limited cash-generating unit are tested for impairment annually. The intangible asset arose due to the acquisition of 
eMedia Investments Proprietary Limited and as such the impairment is tested with goodwill.

EMEDIA INVESTMENTS PROPRIETARY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
GROUP

2021 2020

Discount rates: 16.01% 15.66%
Number of years: 5 years 5 years
Cost growth rate: 5.00% 5.00%
Long-term growth rate: 4.50% 5.00%
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The following assumptions were applied when reviewing intangible assets impairment:
•	 Asset values were based on the carrying amounts for the financial period;
•	 Future expected profits were estimated using historical information and approved budgets extending to five years;
•	 Sales growths and gross margins were based on historical performance and known future prospects;
•	 Costs were assumed to grow in line with expansion and expected inflation; and
•	 Cash flows were extended into perpetuity as management has no reason to believe that the Group will not 

continue pass the budget period.

Distribution rights represent multi-territory and multi-platform programming rights that the Group is able to on sell 
to other entities. These rights are amortised over its economic life, based on the territory and platform for which the 
respective rights have been on sold.

Management reviews the distribution rights on an annual basis and impair any distribution rights that is not relevant 
anymore. For the 2021 year a total of Rnil (2020: Rnil) was impaired. 

In the current year the recoverable amount of R3 048 million exceeds the carrying value R2 173 million of marketing-
related and customer-related intangible assets with an indefinite useful life.

TRANSFER TO DISPOSAL GROUP AS HELD FOR SALE
During the prior year, a decision was made to close Crystal Brook Distribution Proprietary Limited.  
Refer to note 14 for the results of the intangible assets which were reclassified to assets and liabilities  
of disposal groups held for sale in the statement of financial position. 

The amortisation of intangible assets is included in the following line items in the statement of comprehensive 
income:

GROUP

2021 2020
R’000 R’000

Continuing operations
Cost of sales  13 884  19 025 
Administrative and other expenses  30 007  30 007 

 43 891  49 032 
Discontinued operations
Cost of sales –  1 047 
Administrative and other expenses – – 

–  1 047 

Amortisation charge for the year  43 891  50 079 
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6.	 GOODWILL
GROUP

2021 2020
R’000 R’000

Arising on acquisition of shares in subsidiaries  182 143  182 143 
Reconciliation of goodwill
Opening balance  182 143 2 222 048 

– Cost 3 872 107 3 872 107 
– Accumulated impairment (3 689 964) (1 650 059)

Disposals – – 

– Cost – – 
– Accumulated impairment – – 

Impairment – (2 039 905)
Reclassification from (to) assets held for sale – – 
Carrying value at year-end  182 143  182 143 

– Cost 3 872 107 3 872 107 
– Accumulated impairment (3 689 964) (3 689 964)

IMPAIRMENT TESTS FOR GOODWILL
The eMedia Holdings Group has three cash-generating units (CGUs) being eMedia Investments Proprietary Limited 
and its subsidiaries, Yired Proprietary Limited and Silverline Three Sixty Proprietary Limited Group (Media Film Service 
Proprietary Limited and Moonlighting Films Proprietary Limited). The Group has performed impairment testing on 
the cash-generating units that contain goodwill. Goodwill acquired on acquisition of eMedia Investments Proprietary 
Limited and its subsidiaries was tested for impairment. The value of cash-generating units (CGUs) to which goodwill 
has been allocated has been determined based on value-in-use calculations using management-generated cash flow 
projections. The following were the principle assumptions, based on past experience, that were used to calculate the 
net present value of the CGU:

EMEDIA INVESTMENTS PROPRIETARY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
GROUP

2021 2020

Discount rates: 16.01% to 
23.70%

16.5% to 
20.10%

Number of years: 5 years 5 years
Cost growth rate: 4.50% 5.00%
Long-term growth rate: 5.00% 5.00%

Goodwill was not impaired in the current year.

The following assumptions were applied when reviewing goodwill impairment:
•	 Asset values were based on the carrying amounts for the financial period;
•	 Future expected profits were estimated using historical information and approved budgets extending to five years;
•	 Sales growths and gross margins were based on historical performance and known future prospects;
•	 Costs were assumed to grow in line with expansion and expected inflation; and
•	 Cash flows were extended into perpetuity as management has no reason to believe that the Group will not 

continue pass the budget period.

DISCOUNT RATE SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS
At year-end the Group’s accumulated goodwill impairment amounted to R3 690 million (2020: R3 690 million). 
A change of 0.25% in the discount rate would have no effect on profit before tax.
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7.	 INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
COMPANY

2021 2020
R’000 R’000

Shares at cost 5 333 900 5 333 900 
Impairment (2 972 298) (2 972 298)

Carrying value – eMedia Investments Proprietary Limited 2 361 602 2 361 602 

In the 2020 financial year, due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the subsequent loss of advertising revenue in some 
key industries such as fast foods, alcohol and the motor industry as well as the negative impact on the exchange rate, 
investments in subsidiaries was impaired by R320 million at 31 March 2020, to its recoverable amount.

The value of cash-generating unit (CGU) to which the investment has been allocated has been determined based 
on value-in-use calculation using management-generated cash flow projections. The following were the principal 
assumptions, based on past experience, that were used to calculate the net present value of this CGU: 

COMPANY

2021 2020

Discount rates: 16.01% 13.07%
Number of years: 5 years 5 years
Cost growth rate: 4.50% 5.00%

The following assumptions were applied when reviewing the investment for impairment:
•	 Asset values were based on the carrying amounts for the financial period;
•	 Future expected profits were estimated using historical information and approved budgets extending to five years;
•	 Sales growths and gross margins were based on historical performance and known future prospects;
•	 Costs were assumed to grow in line with expansion and expected inflation; and
•	 Cash flows were extended into perpetuity as management has no reason to believe that the Group will not 

continue pass the budget period.

DISCOUNT RATE SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS
At year-end the Group’s accumulated investment impairment amounted to R320 million (2020: R320 million). 
A change of 0.25% in the discount rate would decrease profit or loss before tax by R21.84 million.

Refer to note 17 for details of subsidiary companies that have non-controlling interests (NCI) that are material to  
the Group.
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8.	 EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTEES
GROUP

2021 2020
R’000 R’000

Reconciliation of investments in associates
Interest in associates  184 313  180 077 

Opening balance  180 077  153 845 
Increase in loans to associates  1 967  1 556 
Profit for the year  2 800  24 676 
Share buy-back (531) –

Closing balance  184 313  180 077 

LIST OF INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES
GROUP

2021 2020

Name of associates

Place of 
business/ 
country of 
incorporation

Listed/ 
Unlisted

%
holding

Carrying
amount

R’000
%

holding

Carrying
amount

R’000

Cape Town Film 
Studios Proprietary 
Limited South Africa Unlisted 42.5  136 383 42.5  132 245 
Dreamworld 
Management 
Company  
Proprietary Limited South Africa Unlisted 50.0  47 930 50.0  47 832 

 184 313  180 077

Included in the balance of Cape Town Film Studios Proprietary Limited is a loan amount of R17.2 million  
(2020: R17.2 million) which is unsecured and bears interest at the prime rate and has no fixed terms of repayment. 
The balance of R97.7 million (2020: R96.1 million) is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment. 

Included in the balance of Dreamworld Management Company Proprietary Limited is an unsecured, interest-free loan 
of R13.1 million (2020: R12.7 million) that has no fixed terms of repayment. 

No expected credit loss is required for the loans receivable in the current year as there is no risk of credit loss being 
incurred considering the value of security held on the loans. A significant increase in credit risk will arise when there 
is an indication that there will be default on repayment of the loan. The Group holds security of the loans in the form 
of the properties held by the associates. In the event of default the Group will be able to recover the loans receivable 
from proceeds from the sale of the properties. At year-end the valuations performed exceed the investment and loan.

MAIN BUSINESS AND OPERATIONS OF THE ASSOCIATES
Cape Town Film Studios Proprietary Limited provides sound stages and support buildings for the film industry in the 
Western Cape.

Dreamworld Management Company Proprietary Limited will develop residential accommodation in future, adjacent 
to the Cape Town Film Studio site.
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THE SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION IN RESPECT OF THE GROUP’S PRINCIPAL 
ASSOCIATES
Set out below are the associates which, in the opinion of the directors, are material to the Group. The entities listed 
below have share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are held directly by the Group. The country of 
incorporation or registration is also their principal place of business, and the proportion of ownership interest is the 
same as the proportion of voting rights held. Decision making functions rest with management.

Cape Town
Film Studios 
Proprietary

Limited

Dreamworld 
Management

 Company
 Proprietary

 Limited
R’000 R’000

2021
Summarised statement of financial position as at 31 March 2021
Non-current assets  294 785  8 822 
Current assets  18 899  255 
Non-current liabilities – – 
Current liabilities (258 787) (26 312)

Net assets as at 31 March 2021  54 897 (17 235)

Reconciliation to carrying amounts
Closing net assets at 31 March 2021  54 897 (17 235)
Reporting entities’ share (in %) 42.5% 50.0%

Reporting entities’ share in (R’000)  23 331 (8 617)
Loans to associates  114 853  13 145 
Reporting entities’ adjustment for fair value* (1 801)  38 329 
Goodwill –  5 073 

Carrying amount as at 31 March 2021  136 383  47 930 

Summarised statements of profit and loss and other comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 March 2021
Revenue  45 674 – 

Profit/(loss) from continued operations  7 401 (693)
Other comprehensive income – – 

Total comprehensive income/(loss)  7 401 (693)

Share of associates’ profit/(loss)  3 145 (346)
Elimination of unrealised profit or loss – – 

Group’s share of associates’ profits/(losses)  3 145 (346)

*	 The Group revalued its existing interests in associates in accordance with accounting standards for business 
acquisitions and adjustments were made to the carrying value of associates as at the acquisition date of 1 October 2013.
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8.	 EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTEES CONTINUED
THE SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION IN RESPECT OF THE GROUP’S PRINCIPAL 
ASSOCIATES CONTINUED

Cape Town
Film Studios 

Proprietary
Limited

Dreamworld 
Management

 Company
 Proprietary

 Limited
R’000 R’000

2020
Summarised statement of financial position as at 31 March 2020
Non-current assets  293 360  8 781 
Current assets  12 735  111 
Non-current liabilities – – 
Current liabilities (257 250) (25 433)

Net liabilities as at 31 March 2020  48 845 (16 541)

Reconciliation to carrying amounts
Closing net liabilities at 31 March 2020  48 845 (16 541)
Reporting entities’ share (in %) 42.5% 50.0%

Reporting entities’ share in (R’000)  20 759 (8 271)
Dividends paid – – 
Loans to associates  113 287  12 700 
Reporting entities’ adjustment for fair value* (1 801)  38 329 
Goodwill –  5 073 

Carrying amount as at 31 March 2020  132 245  47 832 

Summarised statements of profit and loss and other comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 March 2020
Revenue  56 587 – 

Profit/(loss) from continued operations  58 855 (674)
Other comprehensive income – – 

Total comprehensive income/(loss)  58 855 (674)

Share of associates’ profit/(loss)  25 013 (337)
Elimination of unrealised profit or loss – – 

Group’s share of associates’ profits/(losses)  25 013 (337)

*	 The Group revalued its existing interests in associates in accordance with accounting standards for business 
acquisitions and adjustments were made to the carrying value of associates as at the acquisition date of 1 October 2013.
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RECONCILIATION OF GROUP’S SHARE OF PROFIT/(LOSS)
Group’s 
share of 

associates’ 
profits/ 
(losses) 

for the year Total
R’000 R’000

2021
Cape Town Film Studios Proprietary Limited  3 145  3 145 
Dreamworld Management Company Proprietary Limited (346) (346)

 2 799  2 799 

2020
Cape Town Film Studios Proprietary Limited  25 013  25 013 
Dreamworld Management Company Proprietary Limited (337) (337)

 24 676  24 676 

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interest in the associates.

The periods for which the summarised financial information of associates disclosed is as at 31 March 2021.

9.	 LONG-TERM RECEIVABLES
GROUP

2021 2020
R’000 R’000

Loans to Group employees 2 929 3 020
Operating lease asset (refer to note 31)  8 797  6 537 

 11 726  9 557 

Loans to Group employees
Opening balance  3 020  9 351 
Treasury shares forfeited – (5 843)
Interest income – – 
Repayment (91) (488)

Loans to Group employees – Interest at 0%  2 929  3 020 

FAIR VALUE OF LONG-TERM RECEIVABLES
Loans to Group employees bears interest at 0% (2020: 0% to 8%) per annum have no set terms for repayment.

There were no impairment provisions on non-current receivable financial assets during the current or prior years.  
No expected credit loss is expected as the loans are secured by the shares and any future dividends until settled in full. 
No increase in credit risks as the Group performed well and the share price is stable.



eMedia Holdings Annual Financial Statements 202144

9.	 LONG-TERM RECEIVABLES CONTINUED
FAIR VALUE OF LONG-TERM RECEIVABLES CONTINUED

COMPANY

2021 2020
Loans receivable from subsidiary companies R’000 R’000

eMedia Investment Proprietary Limited  176 379  228 060 
HCI Invest 3 Holdco Proprietary Limited  8 602  8 602 

 184 981  236 662

The loan owing by eMedia Investment Proprietary Limited and HCI Invest 3 Holdco Proprietary Limited is interest free 
and is payable on written demand from both parties.

Management has reviewed their 12 month cash forecast which shows that the subsidiaries have sufficient resources to 
meet debt commitments. The subsidiaries have also shown a steady increase in revenue and market share.

Management has also stress tested their 5 year forecast for a worst-case scenario and this indicates that they have 
sufficient assets to recover the loan.

Based on these factors, management is not expecting the subsidiaries to experience significant financial difficulty or 
a significant increase in credit risk.

10.	 DEFERRED TAXATION
GROUP

2021 2020
R’000 R’000

Movements in deferred taxation
Opening balance (480 150) (447 055)
Current movements recognised in profit or loss  2 273 (33 095)

 2 273 (29 799)

– Capital allowances (6 747) (4 823)
– Capital allowances on intangible assets  6 721  6 722 
– Tax losses (539) (30 343)
– Accruals  3 718 (1 355)
– IFRS 16 (880) –

Transfer to disposal groups held for sale – (3 296)

– Capital allowances –  94 
– Tax losses – (3 010)
– Accruals – (380)

Closing balance at the end of the year (477 877) (480 150)

Analysis of deferred taxation
Capital allowances (30 757) (24 010)
Capital allowances on intangible assets (482 780) (489 501)
Revaluation of land (14 723) (14 723)
Tax losses  24 090  24 629 
IFRS 16 (880) – 
Accruals  27 173  23 455 

(477 877) (480 150)

Composition of deferred taxation
Deferred tax assets  46 272  45 829 
Deferred tax liabilities (524 149) (525 979)

(477 877) (480 150)
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11.	 INVENTORIES
GROUP

2021 2020
R’000 R’000

Finished goods  5 452  2 881 

Inventories are stated at lower of cost or net realisable value

12. PROGRAMMING RIGHTS
Television programmes
– International  799 508  779 530 
– Local  275 123  65 825 

1 074 631  845 355 

Reconciliation of carrying amount
International television programmes
Opening balance  779 530  706 845 
Additions  514 696  522 298 
Amortisations through cost of sales (494 718) (449 613)

Closing balance  799 508  779 530 

Local television programmes
Opening balance  65 825  85 766 
Additions  481 169  244 477 
Amortisations through cost of sales (271 871) (264 418)

Closing balance  275 123  65 825

International programming with a carrying value of R1.9 million (2020: R6 million) was written off in the current year. 
These programmes no longer served the strategy of the Group and due to the instability of the series a decision was 
made to stop the programme.

NATURE OF USEFUL LIVES AND AMORTISATION METHOD
Programming rights acquired by the Group are initially measured at cost and are amortised over the number of 
licensed broadcasting runs. The genre of features acquired from the 2021 financial year generate advertising revenue 
over more than two runs and the amortisation method for these features is 40% on the first run, 40% on the second 
run and 20% on the remaining run and this has remained the same for 2021, with the exception of programming 
rights acquired specifically for the Multi-Channel platform. These are amortised 20% over each run.
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13.	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
GROUP

2021 2020
R’000 R’000

Trade receivables  380 442  381 311 
Prepayments  17 151  34 529 
Other receivables  45 133  125 730 
Allowance for expected credit losses on trade and other receivables (13 781) (8 784)

 428 945  532 786 

Fair value of trade receivables
Trade and other receivables  428 945  532 786 

The carrying value approximates fair value because of the short period to maturity of these instruments.

Management has performed an assessment on the expected credit loss taking into account forward-looking 
information by assessing the general economic condition of the media and advertising industry to derive to a default 
rate for the 2020 and 2021 year of assessment.

Most of the Group’s debtors currently are multi-national agencies. The Group tracks these agencies in terms of their 
business sustainability by monitoring the international media, any reputational loss, employee disputes, loss of key 
suppliers. This will result in the Group re-evaluating their credit terms, changing to COD and/or increasing the bank 
guarantees we currently have in place. 

Local customers are monitored on the same basis; any retrenchment announcements, loss of key customers and labour 
disputes would result in the same measures, if not stricter as these customers do not have international support.

The Group principally sells to large reputable customers with whom it has long standing relationships with. 
Recurring transactions over the long term provide the Group with valuable payment history and customer behaviour 
knowledge, which is used in making credit assessments. The Group evaluates the macro-economic information within 
the advertising and media industry as well as the health of the industry which includes the monthly advertising spend 
as monitored by the broadcast and research council. This gives the Group an overview of how much spend there is in 
the market currently. Before accepting any new customer, the Group performs credit checks utilising external credit 
bureaux and banks. If there is any doubt about a new customers creditworthiness the customer is initially placed as 
a COD customer and their payment history is assessed before being given credit. Credit is continuously monitored to 
ensure payments are made on time and for the correct amount. The standard credit period on sales is 45 days from 
the date of statement. In determining the loss allowance the Group considered, inter alia, disputes with customers, 
untraceable and slow payers, long overdue accounts and customers placed under liquidation. The Group holds no 
collateral as security against non-payment of any of the above mentioned trade receivables. Historical data indicates 
that there has been no defaults by customers in the Group.

The Group does not credit grade their customers as part of the trade debtor balance. The amounts provided is debtor 
specific. The amount provided is 100% of the amount owed and therefore the amount outstanding from these equal 
to the bad debt provision raised. This is also not representative of the total book as these where unique circumstances.
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TRADE RECEIVABLES
GROUP

Trade receivables days past due

Current > 30 days > 60 days > 90 days Total
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

2021
Carrying value of debtors with no 
expected credit losses  216 037  139 976  2 139  8 509  366 661 
Carrying value of debtors with specific 
credit losses recognised

Gross amount – –  128  13 653  13 781 
Specific credit losses – –  (128)  (13 653)  (13 781)

 366 661 

Gross amount of trade receivables  380 442 
Allowance for expected credit losses  (13 781)

Net carrying value of trade receivables  366 661 

2020
Carrying value of debtors with no 
expected credit losses  206 321  141 497  5 691  18 022  371 531 
Carrying value of debtors with specific 
credit losses recognised – – – 996  996 

Gross amount  916  446  –  8 418  9 780 
Specific credit losses  (916)  (446)  –  (7 422)  (8 784)

Carrying value of debtors with expected 
credit losses  –  –  –  –  – 

 372 527 

Gross amount of trade receivables  381 311 
Allowance for expected credit losses  (8 784)

Net carrying value of trade receivables  372 527 
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13.	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES CONTINUED
OTHER RECEIVABLES

GROUP

Other receivables

Stage 1
Performing

Stage 2
Under-

performing

Stage 3
Non-

performing Total
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

2021
Financial instruments
Carrying value of other receivables with no expected 
credit losses  45 133  –  –  45 133 
Non-financial instruments included in  
other receivables

 45 133 

Gross amount of other receivables  45 133 
Allowance for expected credit losses  – 

Net carrying value of other receivables  45 133 

2020
Financial instruments
Carrying value of other receivables with no expected 
credit losses  125 730  –  –  125 730 
Non-financial instruments included in  
other receivables

 125 730 

Gross amount of other receivables  125 730 
Allowance for expected credit losses  – 

Net carrying value of other receivables  125 730 

TRADE RECEIVABLES PLEDGED AS SECURITY
The Group has at 31 March 2021 pledged trade debt with a carrying value of R429 million (2020: R495 million) to 
Standard Bank of South Africa in respect of a borrowing facility. The carrying value of the borrowing facility at  
31 March 2021 amounted to R222 million (2020: R218 million).

TRADE RECEIVABLES PAST DUE
Trade receivables are written off (i.e. derecognised) when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Failure to 
make payments within 45 days from the invoice date and failure to engage with the Group on alternative payment 
arrangement among other are considered indicators of no reasonable expectation of recovery.

ALLOWANCE FOR EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES ON TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
At 31 March 2021, trade receivables of R13.8 million (2020: R8.8 million) were charged to the loss allowance account.  
The loss allowance for trade and other receivables relate to debtors that have been handed over to attorneys for 
collection and debtors that have been outstanding for more than one year.	
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Movements in the allowance for expected credit losses on trade and other receivables are as follows:	

GROUP

2021 2020
R’000 R’000

Loss allowance as at 1 April  8 784  7 802 
Allowance for receivables impaired  7 028  7 209 
Amounts written off as uncollectable – (6 132)
Amounts utilised during the year (2 031) (95)

Closing balance  13 781  8 784

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other receivables are denominated in the following 
currencies:	

GROUP

2021 2020
R’000 R’000

South African rand  428 129  532 243 
US dollar  774  514 
Euros  42  29 

 428 945  532 786 

GROUP

2021 2020
R’000 R’000

Other receivables
Included under other receivables are:
Value added taxation  3 690  3 639 
Deposits  1 843  2 933 
Other sundry receivables  23 002  28 053 
Working capital facility  16 598  53 282 
Forward exchange contracts –  37 823 

 45 133  125 730

Other sundry receivables comprise of sundry debtors and accrued income. None of these debtors are showing any 
risk of default in the near future and therefore no expected credit loss has been raised.

The working capital loan is a loan the Group has with a manufacturing partner, CZ Electronics Manufacturing for the 
manufacture of Openview HD satellite boxes currently available in South Africa. The loan is measured at amortised 
cost and bears no interest and is repayable monthly. This transaction is part of an ongoing relationship. The eMedia 
Holdings Group continually assesses the manufacturer’s ability to pay back the loan by inspecting their financial 
statements and taking note of any defaults (of which there has been none). The loan is also being received steadily 
and therefore no expected credit loss has been raised as the risk of default is not considered to be significant.

14.	 DISPOSAL GROUP ASSETS/LIABILITIES HELD FOR SALE
GROUP

2021 2020
R’000 R’000

Disposal group assets classified as held for sale  10 413  24 008 
Liabilities associated with the disposal group assets held for sale (7 863) (1 896)

 2 550  22 112
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14.	 DISPOSAL GROUP ASSETS/LIABILITIES HELD FOR SALE CONTINUED

GROUP

Silverline 
Studios 

Proprietary 
Limited

Longkloof 
Limited
 Group

 entities

Niveus 13 
Proprietary

 Limited 

Crystal Brook
 Distribution
 Proprietary

 Limited Total
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

31 March 2021
Disposal group assets classified as 
held for sale
Property, plant and equipment 1 402 – –  4  1 406 
Right-of-use assets 4 065 – – –  4 065 
Intangible assets – – –  975  975 
Deferred tax asset – – – 1 058  1 058 
Trade and other receivables 1 682 –  25  768  2 475 
Taxation receivable – –  9 –  9 
Cash and cash equivalents  321 –  10  94  425 

7 470 –  44 2 899 10 413 

Liabilities associated with the disposal 
group assets held for sale
Trade and other payables (466) (524) (25) (654) (1 669)
Lease liabilities (6 194) – – – (6 194)

(6 660) (524) (25) (654) (7 863)

 810 (524)  19  2 245  2 550

During the period, 31 March 2021, a decision was made to discontinue Silverline Studios Proprietary Limited. 
The results of the operations were reclassified to discontinued operations in the statement of comprehensive income 
and in assets and liabilities to disposal groups held for sale in the statement of financial position.

GROUP

Silverline 
Studios 

Proprietary 
Limited

Longkloof 
Limited
 Group

 entities

Niveus 13 
Proprietary

 Limited 

Crystal Brook
 Distribution
 Proprietary

 Limited Total
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

31 March 2020
Disposal group assets classified as 
held for sale
Property, plant and equipment – – –  4  4 
Intangible assets – – – 1 417  1 417 
Deferred tax asset – – – 1 058  1 058 
Trade and other receivables – 7 834  25  833  8 692 
Taxation receivable – –  46 –  46 
Cash and cash equivalents – –  10  94  104 
Other - Harlan Special Opportunities 
Fund LP Investment –  12 687 – –  12 687 

– 20 521  81 3 406 24 008

Liabilities associated with the disposal 
group assets held for sale
Trade and other payables – (1 385) (25) (452) (1 862)
Taxation payable – – – (34) (34)

– (1 385) (25) (486) (1 896)

– 19 136  56  2 920  22 112
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The Harlan Special Opportunities Fund LP Investment which was classified as assets held for sale, was disposed of in 
the current year.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, a decision was made to close Crystal Brook Distribution Proprietary Limited 
and Niveus 13 Proprietary Limited. These entities represent a major line of business and the results of the operations 
were reclassified to discontinued operations in the statement of comprehensive income and in assets and liabilities of 
disposal groups held for sale in the statement of financial position. 

15.	 STATED CAPITAL
GROUP AND COMPANY GROUP AND COMPANY

Number of shares Rand value

2021 2020
2021 2020 R’000 R’000

Authorised
Ordinary shares of R0 each (2020: R0 each) 70 000 000 70 000 000 – – 
Each ordinary share has the right to 100 
votes at general meetings
N ordinary shares of R0 each (2020: R0 each) 1 055 000 000 1 055 000 000 – – 
Each N ordinary share has the right to one 
vote at general meetings

Issued stated capital
Ordinary shares 63 810 244 63 810 244  333 591  333 591 

Balance at the beginning and end of  
the year 63 810 244 63 810 244  333 591  333 591 

N ordinary shares 379 303 820 379 303 820 6 429 206 6 429 206 

Balance at the beginning of the year 379 303 820 379 543 285 6 429 206 6 429 206 
Share buy-back during the year – (239 465) – – 

443 114 064 443 114 064 6 762 797 6 762 797 

Unissued shares are under the control of the directors until the next annual general meeting.

16.	 TREASURY SHARES
GROUP AND COMPANY GROUP AND COMPANY

Number of shares Rand value

2021 2020
2021 2020 R’000 R’000

N Ordinary shares 2 623 539 2 623 539  19 861  19 861 
Balance at the beginning of the year 2 623 539 2 384 074  19 861  14 018 
Repurchase –  239 465 –  5 843 

2 623 539 2 623 539  19 861  19 861

ISSUE AND REPURCHASE OF SHARES
During the prior year, certain employees resigned from the Group and forfeited their shares 239 465 N ordinary shares 
to the company. The share transaction is accounted for as treasury shares in the statement of changes in equity.

DILUTED WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF SHARES
There is no difference between the weighted average number of shares and the diluted weighted average number  
of shares.
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17.	 NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST
SIGNIFICANT RESTRICTIONS
There are no significant statutory, contractual or regulatory restrictions on the Group’s ability to access or use its assets 
and settle its liabilities.

There are no contractual arrangements in place for the provision of financial support of the principal subsidiary, nor 
has there been any financial or other support provided to these entities during the reporting period.

The Group includes the following subsidiary with non-controlling interests (NCIs): 

Effective interest held by NCI
Profit allocated to 

NCI for the year

2021 2020
2021 2020 R’000 R’000

eMedia Investments Proprietary Limited 32.31% 32.31%  35 740  72 760 
Other subsidiaries – –  (49)  (123)

 35 691  72 637

Other comprehensive loss 
allocated to NCI for the year Accumulated NCI

2021 2020 2021 2020
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

eMedia Investments Proprietary Limited (2 666) (1 620)  1 104 833  1 071 759 
Other subsidiaries – –  3 682  3 731 

(2 666) (1 620)  1 108 515  1 075 490

Set out below is the non-controlling interest (NCI) summarised financial information for eMedia Investments 
Proprietary Limited. The amounts disclosed are before inter-company eliminations.

2021 2020
R’000 R’000

Summarised statement of financial position
Non-current assets  1 619 457  1 503 413 
Current assets  1 576 397  1 581 932 
Assets of disposal groups  10 413  24 008 
Non-current liabilities (429 698)  370 581 
Current liabilities (952 781) (1 046 590)
Liabilities of disposal groups (7 863) (1 896)

2021 2020*
R’000 R’000

Summarised statement of comprehensive income
Revenue  2 444 023  2 505 592 
Profit for the year  133 890  248 462 
Other comprehensive loss for the year (8 251) (5 013)

Total comprehensive income  125 639  243 449 

Summarised cash flows
Cash flows from operating activities  212 910  319 363 
Cash flows from investing activities (250 236) (184 698)
Cash flows from financing activities (95 632)  15 564

*	 Restated for discontinued operations, see note 26
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18.	 BORROWINGS
GROUP COMPANY

2021 2020 2021 2020
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Bank borrowings  442 802  441 287 – – 
Other borrowings  117 087  140 479  8 602  8 602 

Carrying value of borrowings  559 889  581 766  8 602  8 602 
Current portion of borrowings (176 295) (263 906) (8 602) (8 602)

Non-current portion of borrowings  383 594  317 860 – – 

Secured borrowings
Bank borrowings  442 802  441 287 – – 

 442 802  441 287 – – 

Unsecured borrowings
Other borrowings  117 087  140 479  8 602  8 602 

 117 087  140 479  8 602  8 602 

Carrying value of borrowings  559 889  581 766  8 602  8 602

SECURED BORROWINGS
Secured bank borrowings bear interest at a weighted average effective interest rates of 5.83% (2020: 8.80%) and 
repayable in monthly and in quarterly instalments. The secured bank borrowings mature in May 2024. A mortgage 
bond has been registered for R279 million (2020: R236.5 million).

SECURED BORROWINGS LOAN COVENANT
The secured borrowings with Standard bank contain two covenants that are required to be satisfied at the end of 
each measurement period ended September and March each year.

The covenants state that for the 12 month rolling period ending on each measurement date, the following conditions 
must be met:
•	 The Group’s combined debt: EBITDA ratio in respect of each measurement period shall be less than 2.0 (two) times; 

and
•	 The Group’s combined debt service cover ratio (DSCR) in respect of each measurement period shall be greater than 

1.4 (one point four) times.

As defined in the loan agreement, debt means all non-subordinated interest-bearing debt, including and without 
limitation general banking facilities and instalment sale agreements.

EBITDA means consolidated earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and other non-cash item.

Debt service cover ratio means the ratio between free cash flow and the debt service obligation. 

Free cash flow means EBITDA plus/less changes in working capital, less capital expenditure paid, less taxation paid or 
plus tax credits.

Lastly, the debt service obligation means the aggregate of all amounts (whether in respect of principal, interest or 
otherwise) which become payable in respect of the relevant measurement period.

If a breach occurs, the term loans may become repayable on demand should a formal waiver of the breach not be 
granted by the lenders.

Both the debt: EBITDA ratio covenant and DSCR covenant at both measurement dates during the period have  
been satisfied. 
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18.	 BORROWINGS CONTINUED
UNSECURED BORROWINGS
Unsecured other borrowings includes loans from non-controlling interest entities, in particular Venfin Media 
Beleggings Proprietary Limited R94.9 million (2020: R118.3 million). The loan bears interest at 0% and is repayable  
on written demand.

Also included under unsecured borrowings is a loan of R8.6 million (2020: R8.6 million) from HCI Treasury Proprietary 
Limited. The loan bears interest at 0% and is repayable on written demand.

Unsecured other borrowings also includes a contingent consideration. During the prior year the contingent 
consideration was reclassified from disposal groups held for sale. The contingent consideration R13.5 million  
(2020: R13.5 million) relating to an additional purchase consideration payable on 30 June 2021 (refer to note 39 for  
more detail).

Movements in the carrying value of borrowings are as follows:

GROUP

Long-term borrowings Short-term borrowings Total

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Carrying value at the 
beginning of the year  317 860  123 732  263 906  323 092  581 766  446 824 
Cash flows:
Raising of new debt  75 500  325 000 – –  75 500  325 000 
Debt repayments (3 437) – (95 075) (189 125) (98 512) (189 125)
Non-cash:
Changes in fair value – (3 415) – – – (3 415)
Reclassification (6 329) (127 457)  6 329  127 457 – – 
Other – –  1 135  2 482  1 135  2 482 

Carrying value at the end  
of the year  383 594  317 860  176 295  263 906  559 889  581 766 

COMPANY

Long-term borrowings Short-term borrowings Total

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Carrying value at the 
beginning of the year – –  8 602  33 303  8 602  33 303 
Non-cash:
Debt off set – – – (24 701) – (24 701)

Carrying value at the end  
of the year – –  8 602  8 602  8 602  8 602 

Notes to the financial statements 
continued



55

BORROWING FACILITY
GROUP

2021 2020
R’000 R’000

Available facility 502 802  398 415 
Net utilised (447 631) (325 000)

Unutilised balance 55 171  73 415 

The following represents the carrying value of the security for these secured bank borrowings:

GROUP

2021 2020
R’000 R’000

Property, plant and equipment 1 082 198 925 390
Trade receivables  428 945  494 963 

1 511 143 1 420 353

GROUP

2021 2020
R’000 R’000

Maturity of borrowings are as follows:
Due within 1 year  176 295  263 906 
Due within 2 to 5 years  383 594  317 860 

 559 889  581 766 

Analysis by currency:
South African rand  559 889  581 766 

COMPANY

2021 2020
R’000 R’000

Current portion of borrowings
Loan from HCI Treasury Proprietary Limited  8 602  8 602 

 8 602  8 602 

These loans bear interest at 0% and are repayable on written demand.

As at 31 March 2021, the fair value of non-current borrowings approximates their carrying amount as market related 
rates have been applied to discount the instruments. The fair value of current borrowings equals their carrying 
amount, as the impact of discounting is not significant.
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19.	 LEASE LIABILITIES
Land and buildings

2021 2020
R’000 R’000

Reconciliation of carrying value: Lease liabilities
Carrying value as at 1 April  52 541  52 284 
Finance costs  2 845  3 010 
Lease payments  (10 417)  (18 387)
Transfer to liabilities held for sale  (17 321)  – 
Additions  –  15 634 

Carrying value as at 31 March  27 648  52 541 
Less: Current portion (included in trade and other payables note 20)  (8 188)  (21 574)

Non-current portion  19 460  30 967 

The table below analyses the Group’s lease liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period 
at the statement of financial position date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are 
the contractual cash flows.

No relief was sought by lessors during the year.

Less than 
1 year

Between 
1 and 5 years

Over
 5 years Total

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

31 March 2021
Lease liabilities  9 988  22 204  –  32 192 

31 March 2020
Lease liabilities  25 368  43 085  –  68 453 

Refer to note 4 for information on the right-of-use assets related to these lease liabilities.

20.	 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
GROUP

2021 2020
R’000 R’000

Trade payables  470 377  397 436 
Lease liabilities  8 188  21 574 
Foreign exchange contracts 2 738 –
Accruals and other current liabilities  123 351  144 298 

 604 654  563 308

The carrying value approximates fair value because of the short period to settlement of these obligations.

Included in trade payables is an amount of R1.70 million (2020: R1.70 million) owing to HCI Managerial Services 
Proprietary Limited. The standard credit repayment terms of 30 days applies for the settlement of all invoices and is 
interest free.
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GROUP

2021 2020
R’000 R’000

Accruals and other current liabilities
Included under accruals and other current liabilities are:
Amounts received in advance  17 901  37 534 
Value Added Taxation  16 506  19 391 
Leave pay accrual  16 849  18 077 
Bonus accrual  20 857  26 030 
Royalties accrual – 300
Payroll related payables  1 627  1 492 
Trade Accruals  49 611  41 474 

 123 351  144 298 

GROUP

2021 2020
R’000 R’000

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other payables are denominated  
in the following currencies:
South African rand  263 431  227 653 
US dollar  339 496  335 475 
Euros  1 716  180 
British pound  11 – 

 604 654  563 308 

21.	 REVENUE
GROUP

2021 2020*
R’000 R’000

Revenue disaggregation
Advertising revenue 1 613 049 1 735 497 
Content sales  34 044  33 286 
Openview box sales 202 758** –
Facility income  151 280  310 622 
Licence fees  427 828  411 899 

2 428 959 2 491 304 

*	 Comparative periods restated for discontinued operations.
**	�Prior to 1 April 2020 the Group had no involvement in procuring and selling of the Openview boxes other than 

providing the specifications required. As of 1 April 2020 this has changed in that the Group procures directly from 
suppliers and sells directly to the retailers.

The primary geographical market for the Group’s revenue is South Africa.
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21.	 REVENUE CONTINUED
REVENUE DISAGGREGATED BY PATTERN OF REVENUE RECOGNITION
Prior to 1 April 2020 the Group had no involvement in procuring and selling of the Openview boxes other than 
providing the specifications required. As of 1 April 2020 this has changed in that the Group procures directly from 
suppliers and sells directly to the retailers.

GROUP 

Revenue 
recognised
 over time

R’000

Revenue
 recognised 

at a point 
in time

R’000
Total

R’000

31 March 2021
Advertising revenue  1 613 049  –  1 613 049 
Content sales  –  34 044  34 044 
Openview box sales  –  202 758  202 758 
Facility income  151 280  –  151 280 
Licence fees  427 828  –  427 828 

2 192 157  236 802 2 428 959 

GROUP 

Revenue 
recognised

 over time
R’000

Revenue
 recognised 

at a point 
in time

R’000
Total

R’000

31 March 2020
Advertising revenue 1 735 497  – 1 735 497 
Content sales  –  33 286  33 286 
Facility income  310 622  –  310 622 
Licence fees  411 899  –  411 899 

2 458 018  33 286 2 491 304

22.	 OPERATING PROFIT AND LOSS
Operating profit (loss) for the year is stated after accounting for the following:

GROUP

2021 2020*
R’000 R’000

Amortisation of intangible assets  43 891  49 032 
Amortisation of programming rights  766 589  714 031 
Depreciation  93 962  105 418 
Foreign exchange loss (30 693) (35 901)
Gain on disposal of property and equipment (138)  326 
(Loss) on disposal of subsidiaries – (4 187)
Impairment of goodwill – 2 039 905 
Impairment of intangible assets  97 – 
Impairment of property and equipment  1 105  2 361 
Lease expenses – Short-term leases  719  5 914 
Lease expenses – Low-value leases  699  222 
Repairs and maintenance  22 018  29 248 
Employee costs, administrative and other expenses  529 242  744 977 
Write-off of programming rights  1 918  6 116 

* 	 Prior year restated for discontinued operations.
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COMPANY

2021 2020*
R’000 R’000

Employee costs, administrative and other expenses  2 639  1 717 
Impairment of investment in subsidiaries – 320 616

23.	 FINANCE INCOME
GROUP

2021 2020*
R’000 R’000

Recognised in profit or loss
Finance income
Interest received from financial institutions  10 603  7 776 

 10 603  7 776 

24. FINANCE EXPENSES
Finance expense
Interest paid to financial institutions  17 428  18 944 
Interest paid on lease liabilities  2 845  3 010 

 20 273  21 954 

R11.4 million has been capitalised to property, plant and equipment during the year (2020: R7 million).

25.	 TAXATION
GROUP COMPANY

2021 2020* 2021 2020*
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

South African taxes
Current tax  35 637  32 223 – – 
Deferred taxation (2 072) 28 983 – – 

 33 565 61 206 – – 

Losses for tax purposes available for set off against future taxable income and for which deferred tax assets have not 
been raised are estimated at:

GROUP COMPANY

2021 2020* 2021 2020*
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Losses for future set off  35 637  314 156  –  – 

Tax relief at current rates:
Normal tax  9 978  87 964  –  – 

GROUP COMPANY

2021 2020* 2021 2020*
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Reconciliation of tax rate % % % %
Normal tax rate  28.0  28.0 (28.0) (28.0)
Prior year charges/(credits) (net)  0.3 – – – 
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax loss (9.0) 1.3  28.0  28.0 
Impairments not deductible – (32.8) – – 
Other non-deductible items  0.2 (0.1) – – 

Effective rate  19.5 (3.6) – – 

* 	 Prior year restated for discontinued operations.
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26.	 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
GROUP

2021 2020*
R’000 R’000

(Loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxation (30 497) (16 519)

Included in the loss from discontinued operations is an amount of finance income of Rnil (2020: R0.13 million) and 
finance expenses of R 1.08 million (2020: R2.11 million).

LONGKLOOF LIMITED GROUP ENTITIES CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE
During the year ended 31 March 2018 a decision was made to dispose of the Longkloof Limited Group, the results of 
the operations was reclassified to discontinued operations in the statement of comprehensive income and in assets 
and liabilities to disposal groups held for sale in the statement of financial position. Due to the complexity of the 
structure, the process of selling this entity will be completed in the next financial year.

(Loss) from discontinued operations relating to the Longkloof Limited disposal group are as follows:

GROUP

2021 2020*
R’000 R’000

Revenue
Operating and other cost (16 906) (4 972)

(Loss) before taxation (16 906) (4 972)
Taxation – (517)

(Loss) for the year from discontinued operations (16 906) (5 489)

Attributable to equity holders of the company (16 906) (5 489)
Attributable to non-controlling interest – – 

(Loss) for the year from discontinued operations (16 906) (5 489)

Refer to note 14 for details of assets and liabilities relating to the above discontinued operations that have been 
classified as held for sale.

CRYSTAL BROOK DISTRIBUTION PROPRIETARY LIMITED	
During the year ended 31 March 2020, a decision was made to close Crystal Brook Distribution Proprietary Limited,  
the results of the operations were reclassified to discontinued operations in the statement of comprehensive income 
and in assets and liabilities of disposal groups held for sale in the statement of financial position. 

(Loss) from discontinuing operations relating to Crystal Brook Distribution Proprietary Limited are as follows:

GROUP

2021 2020*
R’000 R’000

Revenue –  706 
Operating and other cost (674) (4 809)
Profit before taxation (674) (4 103)
Taxation – – 

(Loss) for the year from discontinued operations (674) (4 103)

Refer to note 14 for details of assets and liabilities relating to the above 
discontinued operations that have been classified as held for sale.
Attributable to equity holders of the company (674) (4 103)
Attributable to non-controlling interest – – 

(Loss) for the year from discontinued operations (674) (4 103)

* 	 Prior year restated for discontinued operations.
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NIVEUS 13 PROPRIETARY LIMITED 
During the year ended 31 March 2020, a decision was made to close Niveus 13 Proprietary Limited, the results of the 
operations were reclassified to discontinued operations in the statement of comprehensive income and in assets and 
liabilities of disposal groups held for sale in the statement of financial position. 

Profit from discontinuing operations relating to Niveus 13 Proprietary Limited are as follows:

GROUP

2021 2020*
R’000 R’000

Revenue –  561 
Operating and other cost – (8)
Profit before taxation –  553 
Taxation – (155)

Profit for the year from discontinued operations –  398 

Refer to note 14 for details of assets and liabilities relating to the above 
discontinued operations that have been classified as held for sale.

Attributable to equity holders of the company –  398 
Attributable to non-controlling interest – – 

Profit for the year from discontinued operations –  398

JACANA MEDIA PROPRIETARY LIMITED 
During the year ended 31 March 2020, a decision was made to dispose of Jacana Media Proprietary Limited on  
31 July 2019, the results of the operations were reclassified to discontinued operations in the statement of comprehensive 
income and in assets and liabilities of disposal groups held for sale in the statement of financial position. 

Loss from discontinuing operations relating to Jacana Media Proprietary Limited are as follows:

GROUP

2021 2020*
R’000 R’000

Revenue  9 791 
Operating and other cost (11 299)
Profit before taxation – (1 508)
Taxation – – 

(Loss) for the year from discontinued operations – (1 508)

Attributable to equity holders of the company – (1 221)
Attributable to non-controlling interest – (287)

(Loss) for the year from discontinued operations – (1 508)

Aggregated cash inflow/(outflow) for disposal groups and  
discontinued operations
Cash flows (used in) from operating activities – (2 713)
Cash flows from investing activities – – 
Cash flows from financing activities – – 

– (2 713)

* 	 Prior year restated for discontinued operations.
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26.	 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS CONTINUED
SILVERLINE STUDIOS PROPRIETARY LIMITED
During the year ended 31 March 2021, a decision was made to discontinue Silverline Studios Proprietary Limited.  
The results of the operations were reclassified to discontinued operations in the statement of comprehensive income 
and in assets and liabilities of disposal groups held for sale in the statement of financial position. 

Loss from discontinuing operations relating to Silverline Studios Proprietary Limited are as follows:

GROUP

2021 2020*
R’000 R’000

Revenue  3 862  19 697 
Operating and other cost (16 779) (24 874)
Loss before taxation (12 917) (5 177)
Taxation – (640)

(Loss) for the year from discontinued operations (12 917) (5 817)

Attributable to equity holders of the company (12 917) (5 817)
Attributable to non-controlling interest – – 

(Loss) for the year from discontinued operations (12 917) (5 817)

Aggregated cash inflow/(outflow) for disposal groups and  
discontinued operations
Cash flows (used in) from operating activities (6 193) 6 867 
Cash flows from investing activities (11 216) (9 308)
Cash flows from financing activities – –

(17 409) (2 441)

27.	 EARNINGS, DILUTED AND HEADLINE EARNINGS PER SHARE
GROUP

Gross Net
R’000 R’000

For the year ended 31 March 2021
Profit attributable to equity owners of the parent  72 264 
IAS 16 profit on disposal of plant and equipment (138) (67)
IAS 16 impairment of plant and equipment  1 105  539 
IAS 38 impairment of intangible assets  97  47 

Headline earnings  72 783 

For the year ended 31 March 2020*
Loss attributable to equity owners of the parent (1 887 505)
IAS 16 loss on disposal of plant and equipment  326  159 
IAS 16 impairment of plant and equipment  2 361  1 151 
IAS 28 Remeasurements included in equity-accounted earnings (16 725) (8 785)
IAS 36 Impairment of Goodwill 2 039 905 2 039 905 
IFRS 10 loss on the change of control of subsidiary  4 187  2 834 

Headline earnings  147 759 

* 	 Prior year restated for discontinued operations.
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GROUP

2021 2020*
Note R’000 R’000

Basic earnings (R’000)
Earnings/(Loss)  72 264 (1 887 505)

Continuing operations  92 907 (1 876 324)
Discontinued operations (20 643) (11 181)

Headline earnings  72 783  147 759 

Continuing operations  93 426  156 106 
Discontinued operations (20 643) (8 347)

Basic earnings per share (cents)
Earnings/(Loss)  16.31  (425.94) 

Continuing operations  20.97  (423.42 
Discontinued operations  (4.66)  (2.52) 

Headline earnings per share (cents)
Earnings  16.42  33.34 

Continuing operations  21.08  35.22 
Discontinued operations  (4.66)  (1.88) 

Weighted average number of shares in issue – 31 March (‘000)  443 114  443 138 

Issued shares as at 1 April (‘000)  443 114  443 354 
Effect of own shares held (‘000) – (216)

Net number of shares in issue – 31 March (‘000) 15  443 114  443 114 

Number of shares in issue – 31 March (‘000)  445 738  445 738 
Number of treasury shares in issue – 31 March (‘000) (2 624) (2 624)

* 	 Prior year restated for discontinued operations.

DILUTED HEADLINE EARNINGS PER SHARE
There are no dilutive instruments in the Group therefore diluted headline earnings per share has not been presented 
in the current and prior year.

During the prior year, certain employees resigned from the Group and forfeited their shares 239 465 N ordinary shares 
to the company. The share transaction is accounted for as treasury shares in the statement of changes in equity.
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28.	 NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT
GROUP COMPANY

2021 2020 2021 2020
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

28.1 CASH GENERATED BY OPERATIONS
Profit/(loss) for the year  107 955  (1 814 868)  (2 639)  (322 330)
Taxation  33 565  62 518  –  – 
Depreciation  105 421  117 487  –  – 
Amortisation of intangible assets  43 891  50 079  –  – 
Amortisation of programming rights through 
cost of sales  764 671  707 915  –  – 
(Profit)/Loss on disposal of plant and 
equipment  (138)  326  –  – 
Impairment of goodwill and investments  –  2 039 905  –  320 616 
Impairment on property, plant and equipment  1 202  2 361  –  – 
Profit from associates  (2 799)  (24 676)  –  – 
Fair value adjustment gain  (30 693)  35 901  –  – 
Investment income  (10 603)  (7 906)  –  – 
Finance Costs  21 348  24 065  –  – 
Write-off of programming rights through cost 
of sales  1 918  6 116  –  – 
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations  –  4 187  –  – 
Operating lease equalisation asset  (2 261)  (1 522)  –  – 
Fair value adjustment of forward exchange 
contracts 40 561  (39 795) – –
Other non-cash items (6 374)  (4 403)  –  – 
Changes in working capital
Inventory  (2 560)  7 213  –  – 
Programming rights (986 112)  (766 775)  –  – 
Trade and other receivables 45 888  (55 241)  –  – 
Trade and other payables 117 999  (1 827)  –  – 

242 879  341 060  (2 639)  (1 714)

28.2 TAXATION PAID
Unpaid at the beginning of the year  8 825  11 645  –  – 
Charged to the statement of profit or loss  (35 637)  (32 895)  –  – 
Business combinations/disposal of subsidiaries  –  (25)  –  – 
Unpaid at the end of the year  (1 475)  (8 825)  –  – 

 (28 287)  (30 100)  –  – 

28.3 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS/
DISPOSALS
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from acquisitions  –  –  –  – 
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from disposals  –  3 930  –  – 

 –  3 930  –  – 

28.4 DIVIDENDS PAID
Dividends paid during the year  (49 042)  (80 236)  (49 042)  (80 236)

 (49 042)  (80 236)  (49 042)  (80 236)

FAIR VALUE OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents approximates fair value due to the short-term maturity of  
these instruments.
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29.	 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Salary Bonus

Retirement
and medical

contributions
Share

 options
Directors’

fees
Other

benefits Total
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

For the year ended 31 March 2021
Executive directors*
MKI Sherrif  5 574  4 070  366 – –  106  10 116 
AS Lee  4 404  1 734  296 – –  82  6 516 
Non-executive directors
JA Copelyn (chairperson)  7 696 – –  6 081 – –  13 777 
TG Govender  2 003 – –  2 629 – –  4 632 
Y Shaik  3 976 – –  2 619 – –  6 595 
L Govender – – – –  380 –  380 
VE Mphande – – – –  1 165 –  1 165 
R Watson – – – –  1 209 –  1 209 
Paid by Hosken Consolidated 
Investments Limited’s subsidiaries 
not in the eMedia Holdings Group (13 675) – – (11 329) – – (25 004)

 9 978  5 804  662 –  2 754  188  19 386 

For the year ended 31 March 2020
Executive directors*
MKI Sherrif  5 891  2 328  658 – – –  8 877 
AS Lee  3 482  1 382  278 – – –  5 142 
Non-executive directors
JA Copelyn (chairperson)  7 696 – –  5 397 – –  13 093 
VE Mphande – – – –  1 207 –  1 207 
RD Watson – – – –  1 318 –  1 318 
L Govender – – – –  372 –  372 
TG Govender  1 965 – –  2 373 – –  4 338 
Y Shaik  3 976 – –  2 017 – –  5 993 
Paid by Hosken Consolidated 
Investments Limited’s subsidiaries 
not in the eMedia Holdings Group (13 637) – – (9 787) (2 229) – (25 653)

 9 373  3 710  936 –  668 –  14 687

*	 There is no distinction made in the remuneration packages of executive directors for services as directors and 
services for carrying on the business of the Group.



eMedia Holdings Annual Financial Statements 202166

Notes to the financial statements 
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30.	 LEASES
GROUP

2021 2020
R’000 R’000

Operating leases – as lessor (income)
Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are receivable as follows:
Less than one year 13 659  12 037 
Between one and two years 14 600  16 915 
Between two and three years 13 246  14 709 
Between three and four years 6 054  13 246 
Between four and five years 6 123  6 207 
More than five years 1 560 –

55 242  63 114 

Certain of the Group’s commercial property is held to generate rental income from external parties. A lease 
agreement was entered into with Consulate General of the Federal Republic of Germany effective from 1 July 2016 
with an initial lease period of 10 years and an extended period of a further 10 years, ending 30 June 2036. A lease 
agreement was entered into with Amazon Centres (SA) (Pty) Ltd effective from 1 April 2018, ending 31 December 2023. 

31.	 COMMITMENTS
GROUP

2021 2020
R’000 R’000

Commitments authorised by the board of directors but not yet contracted:
Plant and equipment  56 511  241 909 
Programming rights  491 671  387 281 

 548 182  629 190 

The committed expenditures will be financed by available bank facilities and retained profits.

The Group has a contracted commitment for its signal distribution as at 31 March 2021 amounting to R36 million 
within one year (2020: R34 million), R150 million after one to five years (2020: R185 million) and R93 million after five 
years (2020: R93 million) with the contract date ending on 31 July 2028. The contracted commitments will be funded 
from the Group’s available bank facilities and retained profits.

32.	 FOREIGN CURRENCY COMMITMENTS
Uncovered Covered Total

Currency R’000 R’000 R’000

2021
Foreign currency monetary items are as follows:
Foreign receivables GBP – – – 

EUR  42 –  42 
USD  774 –  774 

Foreign payables
GBP  11 –  11 
EUR  1 716 –  1 716 
USD  135 896  203 600  339 496
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Uncovered Covered Total
Currency R’000 R’000 R’000

2020
Foreign currency monetary items are as follows:
Foreign receivables GBP – – – 

EUR  29 –  29 
USD  514  514 

Foreign payables
GBP – – – 
EUR  180 –  180 
USD  135 896  199 579  335 475

Average rate Reporting date

2021 2020 2021 2020

The following significant exchange rates 
applied during the year:
British pound  21.02  18.79  20.43  22.18 
Euro  18.77  16.44  17.42  19.77 
United States dollar  16.12  14.79  14.84  17.98

33.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk and interest rate risk), 
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability  
of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group.

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies 
and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of capital. Further quantitative 
disclosures are included throughout these consolidated and separate financial statements.

RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK
The board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management 
framework. The board has established a risk committee, which is responsible for developing and monitoring the 
Group’s risk management policies. The committee reports regularly to the board of directors on its activities.

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set 
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and 
systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. The Group, through 
its training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control 
environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

The Group audit committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk management 
policies and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced 
by the Group. The Group audit committee is assisted in its oversight role by internal audit. Internal audit undertakes 
both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the 
audit committee.
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33.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED
MARKET RISK
CURRENCY RISK
The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with respect to 
the US dollar. Foreign exchange risk arises from exposure in the foreign operations due to trading transactions in 
currencies other than the functional currency. Foreign currency imports within the Group are managed using forward 
exchange contracts (FECs). Forward exchange contracts are not used for speculative purposes. FECs act as natural 
hedges and formal hedge accounting is not performed.

A 10% strengthening of the functional currency against the following currencies at 31 March would have increased/
(decreased) profit and loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular 
interest rates, remain constant. This analysis is performed on the same basis for 2020 and 2021.

2021 2020
R’000 R’000

Effect on profit and loss:
Local currency:
British pound  22 –
Euro  2 916  299 
United States dollar  591 703  602 334 

Refer to note 33 for detail on significant exchange rates applied during the year as well as note 13 and 20 for detail on 
carrying amounts exposed to foreign currency exchange risk.

INTEREST RATE RISK
The Group’s primary interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings and excess funds invested in the money 
market. It is exposed to a lesser extent to interest rate changes on loans to non-controlling interests of fellow 
subsidiary companies. This risk is managed by maintaining an appropriate mix of fixed and daily call placements  
with a reputable financial institution.

INTEREST RATE SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS
At year-end the Group’s interest-bearing borrowings amounted to R442.8 million (2020: R441.2 million). The interest 
rates applicable to these loans are variable. A change of 100 basis points in interest rates would increase or decrease 
profit or loss by R4.4 million before tax.

Refer to note 18 for detail on borrowings. 

CREDIT RISK
The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk. Overall credit risk is managed at an entity level. Credit 
risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and credit exposure to the Group’s customer base, including outstanding 
receivables. Trade receivables comprise a large, widespread customer base and the Group performs ongoing credit 
evaluations of the financial condition of its customers. The utilisation of credit limits are regularly monitored. Refer note 
13 for further credit risk analysis in respect of trade and other receivables. No material credit limits were exceeded during 
the year under review, and management does not expect any losses from non-performance by these counterparties.
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The table below shows the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk by class of asset:

2021 2020
R’000 R’000

Receivables  428 945  532 786 
Cash and cash equivalents  63 101  191 551 
Loans to associates  127 998  125 987 
Loans to Group employees  2 929  3 020 

 622 973  853 344

LIQUIDITY RISK
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial 
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. Adequate liquidity is managed through the use 
of cash flow forecasts and by the maintenance of adequate borrowing facilities.

The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their 
carrying balances, as the impact of discounting is not significant.

DEFAULTS AND BREACHES ON LOANS
There were no breaches or defaults on the repayment of any loans payable during the current or prior year (refer to 
note 18).

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities that will be settled on a net basis into relevant maturity 
groupings based on the remaining period at the statement of financial position date to the contractual maturity date. 
The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Less than
1 year

1 – 5
years

Over
5 years Total

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

2021
Bank and other borrowings 192 490 416 350 – 608 840
Trade and other payables  588 148 – –  588 148 

780 638 416 350 – 1 196 988

2020
Bank and other borrowings  263 906  317 860 –  581 766 
Trade and other payables  543 917 – –  543 917 

 807 823  317 860 – 1 125 683

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and 
to sustain future development of the business. The capital base of the business is viewed as being the shareholder 
equity and non-current liabilities.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The fair value of short-term financial assets and liabilities approximate their carrying values as disclosed in the 
statement of financial position.
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33.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED
LIQUIDITY RISK CONTINUED
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels have 
been defined as follows:
•	 Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
•	 Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 

directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices)
•	 Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs)

Fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

2021
Financial (liabilities) measured at fair value
Forward exchange contracts – (2 738) – (2 738)

– (2 738) – (2 738)

2020
Financial assets measured at fair value – – – – 
Forward exchange contracts –  37 823 –  37 823 

–  37 823 –  37 823 

The Group’s foreign currency forward contracts are not traded in active markets. These contracts have been fair valued 
using observable forward exchange rates and interest rates corresponding to the maturity of the contract. The effects 
of non‑observable inputs are not significant for foreign currency forward contracts.

34.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

GROUP

2021 2020
R’000 R’000

Financial assets
The carrying amount of financial assets, which also represent the maximum credit 
exposure and reasonably approximate their fair values, are as follows:
Amortised cost 622 183  820 679 
Fair value through profit or loss –  50 510 
Non-financial assets 4 842 433 4 526 504 

5 464 616 5 397 693 
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Reconciliation with line items presented in the statement of financial position:

Amortised
 Cost

Fair value
through

profit 
or loss

Non–
financial

assets Total
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

2021
Non-current assets  130 927  –  3 749 672  3 880 599 

Property, plant and equipment – – 1 082 198 1 082 198 
Right-of-use assets – –  23 980  23 980 
Goodwill – –  182 143  182 143 
Intangible assets – – 2 349 967 2 349 967 
Equity-accounted investees  127 998 –  56 315  184 313 
Deferred taxation – –  46 272  46 272 
Operating lease asset – –  8 797  8 797 
Long-term receivables  2 929 –  –  2 929 
Current assets 491 256  – 1 092 761  1 584 017 

Inventories – –  5 452  5 452 
Programme rights – – 1 074 631 1 074 631 
Trade and other receivables  425 255 –  3 690  428 945 
Current tax assets – –  1 475  1 475 
Cash and cash equivalents  63 101 – –  63 101 
Assets of disposal groups 2 900 – 7 513  10 413 

622 183 – 4 842 433 5 464 616 

2020
Non-current assets  129 007  –  3 662 624  3 791 631 

Property, plant and equipment  –  –  925 390  925 390 
Right-of-use assets  –  –  45 625  45 625 
Goodwill  –  –  182 143  182 143 
Intangible assets  –  –  2 403 010 2 403 010 
Equity-accounted investees  125 987 –  54 090  180 077 
Deferred taxation – –  45 829  45 829 
Operating lease asset – –  6 537  6 537 
Long-term receivables  3 020 – –  3 020 
Current assets  691 672  50 510  863 880  1 606 062 

Inventories  –  –  2 881  2 881 
Programme rights  –  –  845 355  845 355 
Trade and other receivables  491 324 –  3 639  494 963 
Forward exchange contracts –  37 823 –  37 823 
Current tax assets – – 9481  9 481 
Cash and cash equivalents  191 551 – –  191 551 
Assets of disposal groups  8 797  12 687  2 524  24 008 

 820 679  50 510 4 526 504 5 397 693

GROUP

2021 2020
R’000 R’000

Financial liabilities
The carrying amount of financial liabilities, which also reasonably approximate 
their fair values, are as follows:
Amortised cost 1 157 991 1 127 545 
Fair value through profit or loss  2 738 –
Non-financial liabilities  560 115  577 038 

1 720 844 1 704 583 
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34.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY CONTINUED
Reconciliation with line items presented in the statement of financial position:

Amortised
cost

Fair value
through

profit 
or loss

Non-
financial
liabilities Total

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

2021
Non-current liabilities  383 594  –  543 609  927 203 

Deferred tax liabilities  –  –  524 149  524 149 
Borrowings – non-current  383 594 – –  383 594 
Lease liabilities – –  19 460  19 460 

Current liabilities  774 397  2 738  16 506  793 641 

Current tax liabilities – – – – 
Current portion of borrowings  176 295 – –  176 295 
Trade and other payables  585 410 –  16 506  601 916 
Forward exchange contracts –  2 738 –  2 738 
Bank overdraft  4 829 – –  4 829 
Liabilities of disposal groups  7 863 – –  7 863 

1 157 991  2 738  560 115 1 720 844 

2020
Non-current liabilities  317 860  –  556 946  874 806 

Deferred tax liabilities  –  –  525 979  525 979 
Borrowings – non-current  317 860  –  –  317 860 
Lease liabilities – –  30 967  30 967 
Current liabilities  809 685 –  20 092  829 777 

Current tax liabilities – –  667  667 
Current portion of borrowings  263 906 – –  263 906 
Trade and other payables  543 917 –  19 391  563 308 
Liabilities of disposal groups  1 862 –  34  1 896 

1 127 545 –  577 038 1 704 583

35.	 RELATED PARTIES
During the year, in the ordinary course of business, certain companies within the Group entered into transactions with 
one another. These intra-Group transactions have been eliminated on consolidation.

Transactions with Hosken Consolidated Investments Limited (HCI) (ultimate holding company), entities in which HCI 
has an interest, Remgro Limited (Remgro) (shareholder in eMedia Investments Proprietary Limited) and Venfin Media 
Investments Proprietary Limited (Venfin) (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Remgro) are included in the following table:

2021 2020
R’000 R’000

Income/(expense) transaction values with related parties 
HCI – management fees paid (17 764) (17 741)
Venfin – management fees paid (2 102) (2 102)
GRIPP Advisory – internal audit service fee (2 921) (2 851)
Balances owing (to)/by related parties
HCI – working capital loan – Borrowing – Refer to note 18 (8 602) (8 602)
HCI Managerial Services Proprietary Limited – Trade Payable – Refer to note 20 (1 699) (1 701)
Venfin – loan relating to the acquisition of Longkloof Limited – Borrowing –  
Refer to note 18 (94 922) (118 315)
Cape Town Film Studios – associate loan – Refer to note 8 119 926 119 926
Dreamworld Management Company – Loan to Associate – Refer to note 8  13 145  12 700 
Employees of the Group – loans relating to company shares held by employees – 
Long-term receivable – Refer to note 9  2 929  3 020 
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REMUNERATION KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
Key management personnel are directors and those executives having authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the Group. The remuneration (all short-term benefits) paid by the Group to 
its key management personnel is as follows:

2021 2020
R’000 R’000

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits  19 386  14 687 

The percentage of shares held by directors of the company and their related entities at the reporting date are 
disclosed in the analysis of shareholders in the integrated annual report, page 21.

COMPANY
The ultimate holding company is Hosken Consolidated Investment Limited.

2021 2020
R’000 R’000

Balances owing (to)/by related parties
eMedia Investment Proprietary Limited – Long-term receivables – Refer to note 9  176 379  228 060 
HCI Invest 3 Holdco Proprietary Limited – Long-term receivables – Refer to note 9  8 602  8 602 

Related parties: All subsidiaries qualify as related parties. All subsidiaries are listed in note 37.

36.	 SEGMENT REPORT
The Group only has one operating segment i.e. the media segment. In accordance with the applicable accounting 
standards (IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations) the media assets have been 
accounted for as ‘discontinued operations’ in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the media segment as 
‘continuing operations’.

The chief operating decision-maker, identified as the executive member of the board considers the operations of the 
Group at year-end as those of media only and therefore no separate disclosure for operating segments are required. 

2021 2020
R’000 R’000

Group income is attributable to the following geographical areas:
South Africa  2 444 023  2 520 448 

 2 444 023  2 520 448 

Non-current assets* of the Group are held in the following geographical areas:
South Africa  3 810 347  3 700 177 

 3 810 347  3 700 177 

*	 Excludes right-of-use assets, financial instruments and deferred tax assets.
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37.	 INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
NAME OF SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa unless otherwise stated)

Issued capital % Interest Shares at book value

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
Direct holdings R’000 R’000 % % R’000 R’000

HCI Invest 3 Holdco 
Proprietary Limited 800 000 100  800 000 100  100  100 – – 
eMedia Investments 
Proprietary Limited  54 871 329  54 871 329  67.7  67.7 5 333 899 924 5 333 899 924 

Shares at book value 5 333 899 924 5 333 899 924 

The below indirect holdings are all held by eMedia Investments Proprietary Limited. 

Issued capital % Effective interest Shares at book value

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
Indirect holdings R’000 R’000 % % R’000 R’000

e.tv Proprietary Limited  108 373  108 373  67.7  67.7  860 487 649  860 487 649 
Yired Proprietary Limited  1 003  1 003  67.7  67.7  1 003  1 003 
Platco Digital Proprietary 
Limited  1 000  1 000  67.7  67.7  1 000  1 000 
Silverline Three Sixty 
Proprietary Limited  200  200  67.7  67.7  20 791 900  20 791 900 
eSat.tv Proprietary Limited  100  100  67.7  67.7  100  100 
Sasani Africa Proprietary 
Limited  100  100  67.7  67.7  100  100 
Sabido Properties Proprietary 
Limited  2  2  67.7  67.7  2  2 
Crystal Brook Distribution 
Proprietary Limited  100  100  67.7  67.7  100  100 
Longkloof Limited  100  100  67.7  67.7  506 015 859  506 015 859 

Shares at book value 1 387 297 713 1 387 297 713 

Longkloof Limited is incorporated and operate in the Channel Islands and all other subsidiary companies (indirect 
holding) listed above are incorporated and operate in South Africa.

38.	 CONTINGENCIES
There are no material contingencies at the date of signing this report. The detail of the contingent consideration is as 
follows:

The contingent consideration arrangement requires the Group to pay the sellers of Moonlighting Films Proprietary 
Limited (Moonlighting) an additional purchase consideration on 30 June 2021 for the remaining shares (25%) held 
by the sellers. The sellers remain entitled to dividends while they hold the remaining shares, as it is also stipulated 
that Moonlighting will declare all profits (subject to working capital requirements) as a dividend at the end of each 
financial year. 
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In 2021, the additional purchase price will be calculated as follows:

If the sellers do not leave prior to 30 June 2021 – the purchase price is:

(The sum of Net Profit After Tax for 2016, 2017, 2018, 2019, 2020 and 2021) less any payments already made by the Group.

If the sellers leave Moonlighting in 2019, 2020 or 2021, Net Profit After Tax will be calculated as the:

(Lower of actual Net Profit After Tax for 2016, 2017, 2018, 2019, 2020 and 2021) or (R5 million per annum for 2016, 2017, 
2018, 2019, 2020 and 2021)

If the sellers choose to sell or are forced to sell, their shares will immediately be transferred to the Group and they will 
lose the right to dividends. However, any purchase price that will accrue between 2018 and 2021 will only be paid on  
30 September 2021.

The Group will pay for the remaining 25% of the shares on 1 July 2021. The purchase price will be equal to (The sum 
of Net Profit After Tax for 2016, 2017, 2018, 2019, 2020 and 2021) less any payments already made by the Group. If this 
amount exceeds R42 million, only 50% of that excess will be paid to the sellers.

The fair value of the contingent consideration arrangement was determined by using the free cash flow approach. The 
discount rate applied in the estimate was 8.5% (2020: 8.5%) and Net Profit After Tax was R1.1 million (2020: R7.2 million).

The contingent consideration of R13.5 million (2020: R13.5 million) has been classified as borrowings. Please see note 18.

39.	 POST-YEAR-END EVENTS
The directors are not aware of any event or circumstance occurring between the reporting date and the date of this 
report that materially affects the results of the Group or company for the year ended 31 March 2021 or the financial 
position at that date. There has been no change in directors interest between reporting date and date of this report. 

40.	 CHANGE IN COMPARATIVES
The results of discontinued operations have been separately disclosed on the face of the statement of comprehensive 
income. For further detail refer to note 26.

41.	 GOING CONCERN
The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. 
This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and 
settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.  
While the Group did show a decline in profits from continuing operations of R138.5 million in the current financial year 
(the year) compared to a net restated profit of R241.6 million in the prior year, after adjusting for the impairment of 
goodwill of R2 039.9 million. The pandemic hit all revenue streams which impacted the Group mostly in the first part 
of the financial year, that is when lockdown levels were at their highest and almost all economic activity came to a 
standstill. This saw the total television advertising market declining by 15.70% or close to R1 billion. The film production 
market where certain of the Group’s subsidiaries conduct business came to a halt due to the closure of the country’s 
borders. The Group is satisfied with the level of profitability, as a worst-case scenario was predicted in the first half 
of the financial year. The Group’s performance in the second half of the financial year saw a recovery of advertising 
revenue to the extent that the Group outperformed the market, with the total market going back 15.70% and the 
Group showing a setback of only 7% through the pandemic set fiscal. In general, the Group’s media sales team 
performed better than the market throughout the year and in the last six months outperformed the prior year almost 
every month. For no further write-off in goodwill to occur shows how strong the Group ended the year despite the 
pandemic continuing to plague the country. 
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42.	� NEW STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS AND AMENDMENTS TO EXISTING 
STANDARDS ISSUED THAT ARE NOT YET EFFECTIVE 
Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published that are 
mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021 or later periods which the Group has 
not early adopted:

Standard Details of amendment

Annual periods 
beginning on  
or after

IFRS 16 Leases 
(Amendment 
– COVID-19 Related 
Rent Concessions)

(Further  
Amendment – 
COVID-19 Related 
Rent Concessions 
beyond 30 June 2021)

“In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, in May 2020 the IASB issued 
amendments to IFRS 16, which permits lessees not to assess whether a 
rent concession received meets the definition of a lease modification, if 
certain criteria are satisfied. Instead, lessees apply other applicable IFRS 
standards, which will often result in a rent concession being recorded as 
a negative variable payment (e.g. DR lease liability, CR profit or loss). 

An amendment to IFRS 16 COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions was 
issued in May 2020 and is mandatorily effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020, with earlier application 
permitted. The amendments were introduced to simplify the accounting 
requirements applicable to rent concessions, meaning that many 
entities adopted the amendments early.

In March 2021 the IASB issued “Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions 
beyond 30 June 2021”, in which the application was extended to also 
include rent concessions related to payments originally due on or before 
30 June 2022.

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on 
or after 1 April 2021, with earlier application permitted for financial 
statements not authorised for issue at 31 March 2021.

1 June 2020

1 April 2021	

Conceptual 
Framework for 
Financial Reporting  
(Amendments  
to IFRS 3)

In May 2020, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 3, which update a 
reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting without 
changing the accounting requirements for business combinations. The 
amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2022. Earlier application is permitted.			 

1 January 2022	

IAS 37 Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities 
and Contingent 
Assets  
(Amendment 
– Onerous Contracts 
– Cost of Fulfilling a 
Contract)	

In May 2020, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 37, which specify the 
costs a company includes when assessing whether a contract will be 
loss- making and is therefore recognised as an onerous contract. These 
amendments are expected to result in more contracts being accounted 
for as onerous contracts because they increase the scope of costs that 
are included in the onerous contract assessment.			 

1 January 2022	

IAS 16 Property,  
Plant and Equipment  
(Amendment 
– Proceeds before 
Intended Use)	

In May 2020, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 16, which prohibit a 
company from deducting amounts received from selling items 
produced while the company is preparing the asset for its intended use 
from the cost of property, plant and equipment. Instead, a company will 
recognise such sales proceeds and any related costs in profit or loss.		
	

1 January 2022	

Notes to the financial statements 
continued



77

Standard Details of amendment

Annual periods 
beginning on  
or after

IAS 1 Presentation of 
Financial Statements  
(Amendment 
– Classification of 
Liabilities as Current 
or Non-Current)

“In January 2020, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1, which clarify 
how an entity classifies liabilities as current or non-current. The 
amendments initially had an effective date of 1 January 2022, however,  
in July 2020 this was deferred until 1 January 2023 as a result of the 
COVID-19 pandemic.

At the IFRS Interpretations Committee’s December meeting, the 
Committee discussed the amendments due to feedback from 
stakeholders which indicated that the requirements of the amendments 
may be unclear.

These amendments are expected to have a significant impact on many 
entities, with more liabilities being classified as current, particularly those 
with covenants relating to borrowings.

The amendments require companies to disclose their material 
accounting policy information rather than their significant accounting 
policies, with additional guidance added to the Standard to explain how 
an entity can identify material accounting policy information with 
examples of when accounting policy information is likely to be material.	

1 January 2023	

IAS 8 Accounting 
Policies, Changes  
in Accounting 
Estimates and  
Errors (Amendment 
– Definition of 
Accounting 
Estimates)

The amendments clarify how companies should distinguish changes in 
accounting policies from changes in accounting estimates, by replacing 
the definition of a change in accounting estimates with a new definition 
of accounting estimates. Under the new definition, accounting estimates 
are “monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to 
measurement uncertainty”. The requirements for recognising the effect 
of change in accounting prospectively remain unchanged.

1 January 2023	
 

The above new standards have no material impact on the Group.
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SHAREHOLDER
INFORMATION

ORDINARY SHARES
BREAKDOWN OF ISSUED CAPITAL

Type of shares
Number of

 shareholders
% of 

shareholders
Number 

of shares
% of issued 

capital

Certificated shares 381 25.22 16 298 0.03
Dematerialised shares 1 130 74.78 63 793 946 99.97

Issued capital 1 511 100.00 63 810 244 100.00

BENEFICIAL SHAREHOLDERS HOLDING 5% OR MORE

Shareholder
Type of 
holding

Number 
of shares

% of issued 
capital

Fulela Trade and Invest 81 (Pty) Ltd DEMAT 51 196 137 80.23

51 196 137 80.23

BREAKDOWN BY RANGE OF UNITS

Share range
Number of

 shareholders
% of 

shareholders
Number 

of shares
% of issued 

capital

1 – 1 000 1 236 81.80 74 013 0.12
1 001 – 5 000 117 7.74 333 599 0.52
5 001 – 50 000 123 8.14 1 658 578 2.60
50 001 – 100 000 10 0.66 650 751 1.02
100 001 and over 25 1.65 61 093 303 95.74

1 511 100.00 63 810 244 100.00

BREAKDOWN BY DOMICILE

Domicile
Number of

 shareholders
% of 

shareholders
Number 

of shares
% of issued 

capital

Non-resident shareholders 30 1.99 4 061 648 6.37
Resident shareholders 1 481 98.01 59 748 596 93.63

1 511 100.00 63 810 244 100.00

BREAKDOWN BY DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDERS

Distribution of shareholders
Number of

 shareholders
% of 

shareholders
Number 

of shares
% of issued 

capital

Banks 9 0.60 2 165 714 3.40
Close corporation 7 0.46 74 692 0.12
Individual 1 399 92.59 3 997 232 6.26
Investment company 17 1.13 1 812 209 2.84
Pension fund 7 0.46 50 476 0.08
Private company 22 1.46 53 738 535 84.21
Public company 23 1.52 1 676 981  2.63
Trust 27 1.79 294 405 0.46

1 511 100.00 63 810 244 100.00
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BREAKDOWN BY PUBLIC/NON-PUBLIC SHAREHOLDERS
Number of

 shareholders
% of 

shareholders
Number 

of shares
% of issued 

capital

Non-public shareholders 7 0.46 53 469 699 83.79
Non-executive directors 1 0.07 100 0.00
Shareholders’ interest in shares
Fulela Trade and Invest 81 (Pty) Ltd 1 0.07 51 196 137 80.23
Frb ITF 36One SNN QI Hedge Fund 1 0.07 1 696 289 2.66
Sbsa ITF 36One BCI Flexible 1 0.07 190 501 0.30
Sbsa ITF 36One BCI SA Equity Fund 1 0.07 170 311 0.27
Ocean36One En Commandite 1 0.07 110 009 0.17
FRB ITF 36One SNN Retail Hedge Fund 1 0.07 106 352 0.17
Public shareholders 1 504 99.54 10 340 545 16.21

1 511 100.00 63 810 244 100.00

N-ORDINARY SHARES
BREAKDOWN OF ISSUED CAPITAL

Type of shares
Number of

 shareholders
% of 

shareholders
Number 

of shares
% of issued 

capital

Certificated shares 317 25.77 40 890 0.01
Dematerialised shares 913 74.23 381 886 469 99.99

Issued capital 1 230 100.00 381 927 359 100.00

BENEFICIAL SHAREHOLDERS HOLDING 5% OR MORE

Shareholder
Type of 
holding

Number 
of shares

% of issued 
capital

Hosken Consolidated Investments Ltd DEMAT 303 330 485 79.42
Rivetprops 47 Pty Ltd #2 DEMAT 21 227 528 5.56

324 558 013 84.98

BREAKDOWN BY RANGE OF UNITS

Share range
Number of

 shareholders
% of 

shareholders
Number 

of shares
% of issued 

capital

1 – 1 000 867 70.49 84 118 0.02
1 001 – 5 000 130 10.57 373 932 0.10
5 001 – 50 000 180 14.63 2 659 728 0.70
50 001 – 100 000 13 1.06 912 413 0.24
100 001 and over 40 3.25 377 897 168 98.94

1 230 100.00 381 927 359 100.00



eMedia Holdings Annual Financial Statements 202180

Shareholder information 
continued

BREAKDOWN BY DOMICILE

Domicile
Number of

 shareholders
% of 

shareholders
Number 

of shares
% of issued 

capital

Non-resident shareholders 28 2.28 4 589 365 1.20
Resident shareholders 1 202 97.72 377 337 994 98.80

1 230 100.00 381 927 359 100.00

BREAKDOWN BY DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDERS

Distribution of shareholders
Number of

 shareholders
% of 

shareholders
Number 

of shares
% of issued 

capital

Banks 10 0.81 2 298 945 0.60
Close Corporation 11 0.89 1 078 402 0.28
Individual 1 132 92.03 6 352 752 1.66
Investment Company 11 0.89 413 463 0.11
Pension Fund 6 0.49 113 910 0.03
Private Company 24 1.95 23 830 164 6.24
Public Company 27 2.20 339 852 428 88.98
Trust 9 0.73 7 987 295 2.09

1 230 100.00 381 927 359 100.00

BREAKDOWN BY PUBLIC/NON-PUBLIC SHAREHOLDERS
Number of

 shareholders
% of 

shareholders
Number 

of shares
% of issued 

capital

Non-public shareholders 17 1.38 360 672 230 94.43
Non-executive directors 0 0.00 0 0.00
Shareholders’ interest in shares
Hosken Consolidated Investments Ltd 1 0.08 303 330 485 79.42
Rivetprops 47 Pty Ltd #2 1 0.08 21 227 528 5.56
eMedia Holdings 1 0.08 9 264 143 2.43
S A Clothing & Textile Workers Union 1 0.08 6 338 460 1.66
The Ceejay Trust 1 0.08 5 218 895 1.37
Frb ITF 36One SNN QI Hedge Fund 1 0.08 3 586 276 0.94
eMedia Holdings 1 0.08 2 981 149 0.78
Ceejay Trust 1 0.08 2 660 850 0.70
Sbsa ITF 36One BCI Flexible 1 0.08 2 093 923 0.55
Sbsa ITF 36One BCI SA Equity Fund 1 0.08 1 988 970 0.52
Fulela Trade And Invest 81 (Pty) Ltd 1 0.08 1 289 814 0.34
Ocean36One En Commandite 1 0.08 232 526 0.06
Frb ITF 36One SNN Retail Hedge Fund 1 0.08 224 795 0.06
Sbsa ITF 36One BCI Equity Fund 1 0.08 121 422 0.03
Sbsa ITF Old Mutual Multi-Managed Equity Fund – 
36One 1 0.00 69 967 0.02
FRB ITF Gtc Active Equity Fund 36one 1 0.08 25 226 0.01
Alexander Forbes Investments Ltd 36One  
Life Equity AM 1 0.08 17 801 0.00
Public shareholders 1 213 98.62 21 255 129 5.57

1 230 100.00 381 927 359 100.00
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eMEDIA HOLDINGS LIMITED
The company’s shares are listed under the media sector of 
the JSE Limited.

COMPANY REGISTRATION NUMBER
1968/011249/06 (Incorporated in the Republic of  
South Africa)

JSE SHARE CODES
Ordinary Shares: EMH IZIN: ZAE000208898
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REGISTERED OFFICE
5 Summit Road, Dunkeld West,  
Hyde Park, Johannesburg, 2196
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